ENVIRONMENTAL ACCOUNTABILITY IN ONTARIO

Consultation Paper

September 2022



LAW COMMISSION OF ONTARIO Commission du droit de l'Ontario



About The Law Commission of Ontario

The Law Commission of Ontario (LCO) is Ontario's leading law reform agency.

The LCO provides independent, balanced, and authoritative advice on complex and important legal policy issues. Through this work, the LCO promotes access to justice, evidence-based law reform and public debate.

The LCO evaluates laws impartially, transparently and broadly. The LCO's analysis is informed by legal analysis; interdisciplinary research; contemporary social, demographic and economic conditions; and the impact of technology.

The LCO is located at Osgoode Hall Law School, York University, Toronto.

More information about the LCO is available at <u>www.lco-cdo.org</u>.



LAW COMMISSION OF ONTARIO Commission du droit de l'Ontario

Law Commission of Ontario Reports

Legal Issues in the Last Stages of Life (Forthcoming 2022) Accountable AI (June 2022) Comparing European and Canadian AI Regulation (November 2021) Legal Issues in the Last Stages of Life (October 2021) Regulating AI: Critical Issues and Choices (April 2021) The Rise and Fall of AI and Algorithms in American Criminal Justice: Lessons for Canada (October 2020) Defamation Law in the Internet Age (March 2020) Class Actions Objectives, Experiences and Reforms (July 2019) Legal Capacity, Decision-making, and Guardianship (March 2017) Simplified Procedures for Small Estates (August 2015) Capacity and Legal Representation for the Federal RDSP (June 2014) Review of the Forestry Workers Lien for Wages Act (September 2013) Increasing Access to Family Justice (February 2013) Vulnerable Workers and Precarious Work (December 2012) A Framework for the Law as It Affects Persons with Disabilities (September 2012) A Framework for Teaching about Violence Against Women (August 2012) A Framework for the Law as It Affects Older Adults (April 2012) Modernization of the Provincial Offences Act (August 2011) Joint and Several Liability Under the Ontario Business Corporations Act (February 2011) Division of Pensions Upon Marriage Breakdown (December 2008) Fees for Cashing Government Cheques (November 2008)

Access the LCO's complete list of publications on the LCO website at: <u>https://www.lco-cdo.org/en/publications-papers</u>

Funders











Barreau de l'Ontario

Contributors

Ramani Nadarajah, Counsel & Project Lead Sue Gratton, Counsel Nye Thomas, Executive Director Andrew Seo, Executive Officer Rei Bajraktari, LCO Student Scholar Damian Di Biase, LCO Student Scholar Emily Graham, LCO Student Scholar Redwan Majumder, LCO Student Scholar Kirsten McCann, LCO Student Scholar Margaret McClosky, LCO Student Scholar Anneka Oh, LCO Student Scholar Noor Malik, Special Projects Lead 12thirteen Design Inc., Graphic Design

Disclaimer

The opinions or points of view expressed in the LCO's research, findings and recommendations do not necessarily represent the views of LCO Advisory Committee members, funders (Law Foundation of Ontario, Osgoode Hall Law School, Law Society of Ontario) or supporters (Law Deans of Ontario, York University).

Citation

Law Commission of Ontario, *Environmental Accountability in Ontario: Consultation Paper*, (Toronto: September 2022).

Contact

Law Commission of Ontario 2032 Ignat Kaneff Building Osgoode Hall Law School, York University 4700 Keele Street Toronto, Ontario, Canada M3J 1P3

Tel: (416) 650-8406 Fax: (416) 650-8418 TTY: (416) 650-8082 General email: <u>LawCommission@lco-cdo.org</u> Web: <u>www.lco-cdo.org</u>

Advisory Group Members

Julie Abouchar, Partner at Willms & Shier Environmental Lawyers LLP

Susan Chiblow, Professor at University of Guelph, School of Environment

Lisa DeMarco, CEO & Senior Partner at Resilient LLP

Jula Hughes, Dean & Professor at Bora Laskin Faculty of Law, Lakehead University

Richard Lindgren, Lawyer at Canadian Environmental Law Association (CELA)

Heather McLeod Kilmurray, Professor at University of Ottawa, Faculty of Law

Cherie Metcalf, Associate Professor at Queen's University, Faculty of Law

Ian Miron, Lawyer at Ecojustice Canada

Lori Mishibinijima, Program Manager & Special Adviser Indigenous & Reconciliation Initiatives, York University

Paul Muldoon, Past Vice-Chair at the Environmental Review Tribunal

Rod Northey, Partner at Gowling WLG

Alexandria Pike, Partner at Davies Ward Phillips & Vineberg LLP

Dayna Scott, Professor at Osgoode Hall Law School & York Research Chair in Environmental Law & Justice in the Green Economy

Table of Contents

1. lı	ntroduction	6
1.1	Introduction to the Environmental Accountability Project	6
1.2.	About the LCO	6
1.3.	Catalysts for Reform	6
	1.3.1. Reconsidering The Effectiveness of the Environmental Bill of Rights.	7
	1.3.2. Pressing Environmental Issues.	7
	1.3.3. The Need to Consider Emerging Strategies to Ensure Environmental Accountability	8
1.4.	Organization of the Consultation Paper.	9
1.5.	Relationship to Other Environmental Accountability Initiatives and Reports	9
1.6.	Project Deliverables, Organization, and Funding	10
1.7.	Consultation Process and Next Steps	10
2 8	ackground	11
	What is the EBR?	
	Models of Environmental Accountability	
	History of Environmental Rights in Ontario.	
	The Task Force on the Environmental Bill of Rights.	
2.7.		14
3 E\	valuating the EBR.	15
3.1.	Non-Compliance with the EBR	15
3.2.	Narrowing the Scope of the EBR	16
3.3.	Court Decisions	17
4. E	merging Models of Environmental Accountability	19
5. C	Consultation Issues – Environmental Bill of Rights	20
5.1.	Political versus Legal Accountability.	20
5.2.	Statement of Environmental Values	21
	5.2.1. Scope	21
5.3.	Judicial Review and Remedies	23
5.4.	Access to Information	23
5.5.	Public Trust Doctrine	24
5.6.	Commissioner of the Environment	25
5.7.	Public Participation and Access to Justice	27
		~ 7
	5.7.1. Intervenor Funding	27

	5.7.3. Third-Party Party Appeals	
5.8.	Harm to Public Resource	
5.9.	Exceptions to the EBR	
	5.9.1. Exemption of the Ministry of Finance	
	5.9.2. Substantially Equivalent Process Exemption	
5.10	. Environmental Assessment Exemption	
6. C	onsultation Issues – Emerging Environmental Accountability Strategies and Priorities 32	
6.1.	Purpose and Governing Principles	
6.2.	Indigenous Peoples	
6.3.	Right to a Healthy Environment	
6.4.	Environmental Justice	
6.5.	Rights of Nature	
7. C	onsultation Process and Next Steps	
Appendix A – List of Consultation Questions		
Арр	endix B – Glossary	
End	notes	

The protection of the environment has become one of the major challenges of our time. Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. Hydro Québec, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 213

1

What democratic societies promote — and repressive ones do not — are the rights of its citizens and their participation in decision-making about the rules they will be governed by. Democracy promotes choice, voice and access to rights. Justice Rosalie Abella's Keynote Address to Osgoode Hall Law School, April 7, 2000

Introduction

1.1. Introduction to the Environmental Accountability Project

The Law Commission of Ontario (LCO) initiated its Environmental Accountability project to consider legal strategies and law reform options to improve environmental accountability in Ontario.

Broadly speaking, this project considers how well Ontario's *Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993 (EBR*) is working; whether the *EBR* should be updated; and whether Ontario should adopt one or more contemporary environmental accountability strategies, including "environmental justice" initiatives, the "right to a healthy environment," and measures to address Indigenous environmental accountability.

The LCO's Environmental Accountability project will conclude with an independent, evidence-based, and comprehensive analysis of these issues. The LCO's final report will recommend reforms to laws, policies, and/or practices where it is appropriate to do so.

1.2. About the LCO

The Law Commission of Ontario (LCO) is Ontario's leading law reform agency. The LCO provides independent, balanced, and authoritative advice on complex and important legal policy issues. Through this work, the LCO promotes access to justice, evidencebased law reform and public debate. LCO reports are a practical and principled long-term resource for policymakers, stakeholders, academics and the general public. LCO's reports have led to legislative amendments and changes in policy and practice. They are also frequently cited in judicial decisions, academic articles, government reports and the media.

The LCO is also undertaking projects addressing <u>AI</u>, <u>ADM and the Justice System</u>, the <u>Indigenous Last</u> <u>Stages of Life</u>, <u>consumer protection</u>, and <u>protection</u> <u>orders</u>.

More information about the LCO is available at <u>www.lco-cdo.org</u>.

1.3. Catalysts for Reform

The LCO believes the time is right for an independent, interdisciplinary, and balanced review of the *EBR* and environmental accountability strategies generally.

The *EBR* was enacted over 25 years ago. Since then, the environmental, policy, and legal landscape in Ontario has changed considerably. New issues have emerged, including important developments in the relationship between the Crown and Indigenous Peoples; the growing recognition of environmental justice; and the adoption of the right to a healthy environment by most member states of the United Nations. These new developments underscore the need to re-examine the substantive and procedural requirements of the *EBR* to ensure it reflects and is responsive to current realities.

The section below summarizes the major catalysts driving the LCO's project.

1.3.1. Reconsidering the Effectiveness of the Environmental Bill of Rights

The preamble of the *Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993* (*EBR*) states that:

... [t]he people of Ontario have as a common goal the protection, conservation, and restoration of the natural environment for the benefit of present and future generations.¹

The *EBR*'s preamble further recognizes that while the government has the primary responsibility for achieving this goal, Ontarians should also have the means to ensure that the Act's goals are achieved in an "effective, timely, open and fair manner." Thus, an underlying premise of the *EBR* is that the public and the government share responsibility for protecting the environment.

The *EBR* sought to achieve its objectives by enhancing public participation rights in government decisionmaking process on environmental matters. It was anticipated that this would improve accountability and transparency leading to better environmental outcomes. During the legislative process to enact the *EBR*, the then Environment Minister, Bud Wildman, declared:

...the legislation is a landmark bill which will meet the needs of the public, industry, environmental groups and the government. We see this as an important building block in the creation of a sustainable economy that will set new and higher standards of environmental protection both now and for years to come.²

Reports by the Auditor-General of Ontario, the Commissioner of the Environment (Environmental Commissioner), and recent court decisions, however, raise serious concerns about how participatory rights under the *EBR* are being implemented. These reports document non-compliance by government ministries, the erosion of the scope of the *EBR* through changes to the approvals process, a lack of public access to information, and other factors which suggest that the *EBR* may be failing to live up to its intended purpose.

1.3.2. Pressing Environmental Issues

Since the *EBR* was enacted over twenty-five years ago, environmental issues have remained at the forefront of public concerns, particularly with respect to climate change. A report released this year by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) delivered a stark warning that time was running out to address the irreversible impacts of climate change. The IPCC report states that "[w]ithout urgent, effective and equitable mitigation actions, climate change increasingly threatens the health and livelihoods of people around the globe, ecosystem health and biodiversity."³

In the Ontario context, the impacts of climate change can no longer be regarded as a remote threat.⁴ Climate change is causing extreme weather, damaging property, and has caused millions of dollars in insurance claims.⁵ Temperature variability has caused damage to the boreal forests in Northern Ontario and made evergreen trees lose their "cold hardiness."⁶ Climate change has impacted Ontario's crop production and altered the types of crops that can be grown.⁷ This, in turn, will impact Ontario's food security, including production, access, and price.⁸ The rising water temperature in Ontario lakes and rivers will affect cold-water fish potentially causing significant loss of lake trout and brook trout.⁹ The increase in temperature is causing:

...milder winters, hotter summers, and moisture stress which "creates favorable conditions for insect and plant diseases to spread. Mosquito and tick-borne diseases, such as Lyme disease and West Nile virus are spreading northward in a warmer climate.¹⁰

Ontarians' health, particularly the most vulnerable, will also be affected by the increase in temperature with

"extreme heat causing a variety of health effects that can range from breathing problems to cardiovascular issues."¹¹ The Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks (Environment Ministry) has noted Indigenous communities will be impacted given that the pace of climate change is anticipated to be faster in the Far North than Southern Ontario.¹²

The province is also facing other pressing environmental challenges. The Auditor General of Ontario, for example, concluded in recent reports that the province is failing to protect species at risk,¹³ was not taking sufficient action to prevent and reduce the adverse impacts of hazardous spills¹⁴ and had not taken concrete action to reduce waste generation in the industrial, commercial, and institutional sectors.¹⁵

Polling data reveals that Canadians and Ontarians are concerned about the state of the environment.¹⁶ A majority of Ontarians believe temperatures are hotter due to climate change and 67% say that the forest fires in 2021 have made them feel that climate change is a more urgent issue that needs to be addressed.¹⁷ These polls underscore the strong public interest in environmental protection and suggest the need for strong accountability structures with respect to government performance.

1.3.3. The Need to Consider Emerging Strategies to Ensure Environmental Accountability

Since the enactment of the *EBR*, several new or more widely recognized environmental accountability strategies have been adopted or are under development in Canadian provinces and internationally. In many respects, these strategies represent fundamental reconsiderations or restructuring of the *EBR*'s public participation model. These strategies include:

Reconciliation and Indigenous Legal Orders

The Task Force that developed the *EBR* did not have Indigenous representation, nor was there discussion of public participation and accountability mechanisms as they relate to Indigenous communities. Moreover, the *EBR* predates important development in the relationship between the Crown and Canada's Indigenous Peoples, including but not limited to the Government of Canada's 2021 enactment of the *United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act (UNDRIP Act)*.¹⁸ As a result, the *EBR* did not reflect wider developments or recognition of Indigenous rights and reconciliation between Indigenous Peoples and the Crown.

Environmental Justice

Environmental justice considers how environmental risk and harm affect members of society differently and their access and influence over environmental decisionmaking.¹⁹

At the time of the enactment of the *EBR*, environmental justice was not a prominent concept in Canada and was not addressed in the Task Force report. Environmental justice has since become an important social movement and a theoretical framework for assessing whether environmental risks and burdens are distributed fairly in society.²⁰

Right to A Healthy Environment

The "right to a healthy environment" has become an increasingly prominent strategy to promote environmental accountability.

The *EBR's* preamble includes a reference to a right to a healthy environment but does not provide a substantive right to a healthy environment that can be enforced by the public.

There have been various proposals over the years to include a right to a healthy environment in Canada's Constitution, but these efforts have not come to fruition. Several Canadian provinces, including Quebec, Yukon, the Northwest Territories and Nunavut have legislated limited environmental rights.²¹

More recently, in February 2022, the Federal Government introduced Bill S-5, *Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act,* which includes a right to a healthy environment.²² However, like the *EBR*, Bill S-5 does not provide a remedy for a breach of the right and is unenforceable in court.²³

1.4. Organization of the Consultation Paper

The Consultation Paper asks two sets of questions. First, the paper asks about potential reforms to the *EBR*. Second, the paper asks potentially more farreaching and challenging questions about emerging legal concepts of "environmental justice," the "right to a healthy environment," and how to account for Indigenous issues and legal orders in Ontario's environmental accountability framework.

The sequence of questions in the Consultation Paper does not reflect the LCO's priorities or assumptions about the project. The LCO is seeking input and advice on all questions equally. The LCO acknowledges that the relationship between the *EBR*, environmental justice, the right to a healthy environment, and Indigenous legal orders is complicated. For example, one's views about a "right to a healthy environment," could have important implications for the scope of the *EBR*.

Similarly, readers will note that some consultation questions are technical and detailed, whereas others ask about general principles. Law reform projects (and consultation papers specifically) invariably need to strike a balance between these perspectives. Readers may address all questions or concentrate their responses on one or more areas.

Finally, readers will know that environmental accountability is a complex, controversial, and politicized subject. The LCO is committed to bringing its rigorous, evidence-based and non-partisan approach to this project. The LCO's goal is to move beyond the rhetoric and ask hard but fair questions about Ontario's experience; the desirability, feasibility, and enforceability of reasonable law reform options; and how environmental accountability measures might be balanced against competing rights and economic interests.

The LCO encourages input from all Ontarians representing a full spectrum of political and ideological views and having a range of environmental and economic interests. This Consultation Paper was prepared by the LCO following considerable research and informal consultations with approximately 40 individuals and groups representing a broad cross-section of perspectives.

A complete list of consultation questions is attached as Appendix A. A glossary of frequently used terms is attached as Appendix B.

A description of the LCO's consultation process is below.

1.5. Relationship to Other Environmental Accountability Initiatives and Reports

The LCO's Environmental Accountability project is the latest of a series of analyses and evaluations of environmental accountability issues in Ontario. Most notably, the Environmental Commissioner has produced a comprehensive series of reports and recommendations assessing the impact and operation of the *EBR* since its inception in the early 1990's.

The Canadian Environmental Law Association (CELA), a community clinic funded by Legal Aid Ontario, has also produced reports evaluating environmental laws in Ontario, as have representatives for industry groups and many others.

Finally, many Indigenous communities across Ontario and Canada have developed sophisticated analyses, frameworks, and legal orders for ensuring environmental accountability.

The LCO's objective in this project is not to recreate these reports, but to build on them. Unlike many organizations participating in environmental accountability discussions, the LCO does not advocate on behalf of stakeholders or a particular viewpoint. Our success depends on meaningful engagement with individuals, communities, and organizations across Ontario. The LCO works with legal professionals and organizations, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), industry associations, academics, governments, communities, and the public.

1.6. Project Deliverables, Organization, and Funding

This project will produce an independent, evidencebased, and comprehensive analysis of environmental accountability issues. The LCO's final report will recommend reforms to laws, policies, and/or practices where it is appropriate to do so.

The final report and accompanying materials will be distributed widely. The LCO will also produce a range of user-friendly, accessible, and web-based materials that will explain the project, final report, and recommendations.

All project materials will be available on the LCO's dedicated project website at: [insert project page].

This project is being led by the LCO with the support of LCO's Environmental Accountability Advisory Group. A list of Advisory Committee members is available on the LCO website <u>here</u>.

1.7. Consultation Process and Next Steps

The LCO believes that successful law reform depends on broad and accessible consultations with individuals, communities, and organizations across Ontario.

The release of this Consultation Paper launches an intense period of public consultations. During this period, the LCO will consult with a broad array of stakeholders, including lawyers and legal organizations, environmental NGOs, industry representatives, academics, Indigenous communities, government and justice system leaders, and individual Ontarians interested in environmental issues.

To this end, the LCO will be organizing several consultation processes over the next several months:

Written Submissions

The LCO encourages written submissions. Written submissions can be sent to the LCO's general email address at LawCommission@lco-cdo.org.

The deadline for written submissions is November 25, 2022.

The LCO is committed to sharing ideas and building constructive dialogue. Accordingly, the LCO expects to post written submissions on our project webpage, subject to limited exceptions. Individuals or organizations wishing to provide a written submission may want to contact the LCO for further information prior to their submission.

Meetings/Forums/Workshops/Partnerships

The LCO expects to organize a wide range of meetings, forums, or workshops on environmental accountability issues over the next several months. The LCO is strongly committed to partnering with interested organizations and stakeholders to develop consultation initiatives. Individuals or organizations interested in working with the LCO are encouraged to contact our Project Lead.

Project updates and events will also be posted on the LCO's project page:

https://www.lco-cdo.org/en/our-current-projects/

Project Lead and Contacts

The LCO's Project Lead is Ramani Nadarajah. She can be contacted at <u>rnadarajah@lco-cdo.org</u>.

The LCO can also be contacted at:

Law Commission of Ontario 2032 Ignat Kaneff Building Osgoode Hall Law School, York University 4700 Keele Street Toronto, Ontario, Canada M3J 1P3

Email: LawCommission@lco-cdo.org Web: www.lco-cdo.org Twitter: @LCO_CDO Tel: (416) 650-8406 Toll-free: 1 (866) 950-8406



Background

Section 2 of the paper provides background information on law reform issues the LCO is likely to consider in this project. This section includes:

- A description of the *EBR*.
- A description of political versus legal models of environmental accountability.
- A brief history of environmental accountability in Ontario.
- The Task Force on the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights.

Section 3 of the paper evaluates the effectiveness of the *EBR*. Section 4 introduces several new environmental strategies, priorities, and issues that have emerged since the enactment of the *EBR* in 1993.

2.1. What is the EBR?

The *EBR* is a complex statute that imposes certain governmental obligations and confers new environmental rights for Ontarians.²⁴

The preamble to the *EBR* asserts that "the people of Ontario have a right to a healthful environment."

The purposes of the *EBR*, stated in section 2 of the Act, are as follows:

(a) to protect, conserve and, where reasonable, restore the integrity of the environment by the means provided in this Act;

(b) to provide sustainability of the environment by the means provided in this Act; and

(c) to protect the right to a healthful environment by the means provided in this Act.²⁵

The *EBR* only applies to government ministries and statutes that are prescribed or in other words "caught by" the *EBR*.²⁶ There are currently 16 prescribed ministries under the *EBR* which must meet the following requirements under the Act:²⁷

- Notify and consult the public through a website known as the Environmental Registry of Ontario (Registry) when developing or changing policies, laws, regulations, and issuing instruments (i.e., permits, licenses, approvals and orders) that may have a significant effect on the environment;
- Develop and implement a "Statement of Environmental Values" (SEV) that explains how the purposes of the *EBR* will be considered when making decisions that may significantly affect the environment;
- Respond to applications from Ontarians asking for the review of laws, policies, regulations, or instruments; and
- Investigate alleged contraventions of environmental laws, regulations, or approvals.

The *EBR* established new environmental rights for Ontarians and removed some of the pre-*EBR* barriers for individuals seeking redress for environmental harm. These include:

- The right for individuals to seek leave to appeal decisions of certain instruments which are posted on the Registry. ²⁸
- Removal of some of the restrictions for bringing a public nuisance action; and²⁹
- A "whistleblower" provision that protects employees from reprisals by employers for complying or seeking to enforce environmental statutes.

Finally, the EBR established the Office of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario to serve as a "watchdog" with responsibility for oversight of the operation and implementation of the EBR.³⁰ To ensure independence and neutrality, the Environmental Commissioner was to be appointed by the Legislature, not the provincial government.³¹

The Environmental Commissioner was required to provide annual reports to the Legislature on the operation of the *EBR*.³² The Environmental Commissioner was also given the authority to provide special reports to the Legislature at any time on any matter related to the *EBR*.³³ The Environmental Commissioner was given broad powers, including responsibility for providing educational programs to the public about the *EBR* and giving advice and guidance to members of the public who wanted to participate in the environmental decision-making process.³⁴ Notably, the Environmental Commissioner was not provided with any direct enforcement mechanisms, such as issuing orders, to ensure compliance with the *EBR*.³⁵

Importantly, the participatory rights under the *EBR* do not guarantee that the public comments will necessarily be accepted and accommodated in government decisions.³⁶ The *EBR*, however, requires government ministries to consider relevant comments in their decision-making process.³⁷ The *EBR* also requires government ministries to report back to the public, by placing a notice of decision on the Registry, explaining the effect, if any, that public participation had on the final decision.³⁸

2.2. Political vs. Legal Models of Environmental Accountability

In broad terms, the *EBR* is based on a public participation model of environmental accountability. Public participation in environmental decision-making is a central feature of environmental regulatory regimes in many parts of the world.³⁹

In the Canadian context, since the late 1960s and 1970s, there has been a dramatic increase in the use of participatory measures in federal and provincial environmental legislation.⁴⁰ These developments are also reflected at the international level, most notably in the adoption of the Aarhus Convention, a multilateral environmental agreement signed by the European Union and numerous other countries.⁴¹ The Aarhus Convention grants the public rights regarding access to information, public participation, and access to justice in the environmental decision-making processes by governments. Public participation is now widely accepted as essential to ensure democratic accountability and legitimacy of government decisionmaking. ⁴²

Prior to the *EBR*, environmental decision-making by the Ontario government was characterized by a lack of clear accountability mechanisms and citizen engagement. Almost five decades ago, one commentator observed:

The administrative agency, whether it is, for example, the Ontario Ministry of Environment or the Ontario government's Planning Branch, is admittedly an essential element in our society. Someone must take the initiative for planning, must set standards, supervise the granting of permits, and see that regulations are enforced. Yet, all too often, the citizen has been left out of the decision-making, rule-setting process. In many cases, the citizen is actually forbidden to take part.⁴³ Similar concerns had been expressed earlier in the United States by Joseph L. Sax, an environmental law professor at the University of Michigan Law School. Sax played a central role in the development of the concept of environmental rights. In his influential 1971 text, *Defending the Environment: A Strategy for Citizen Involvement,* Sax stated:

The administrative agency is neither sinister nor superfluous; indeed, it is an essential institution to regulate the myriad daily activities which require that standards be set, permits granted, and routine rules enforced. But it has become more than merely a useful supplement to private initiatives and participation in the government process. It has supplanted the citizen as a participant to such an extent that its panoply of legal strictures actually forbid members of the public from participating even in the complacent process whereby the regulators and the regulated work out the destiny of our air, water and land resources.⁴⁴

Sax's premise was that embedding citizen suits into legislation was the most effective mechanism for ensuring environmental protection. The courts were regarded as the preferred institution to resolve environmental disputes because they were immune from political pressure.⁴⁵ In response to arguments that the courts are an institutionally inappropriate forum because judges lack sufficient expertise on environmental matters, Sax noted that the courts often determine complicated matters, such as medical malpractice or product liability cases, that also involve highly scientific and technical issues.⁴⁶ According to Sax, protection of the environment and natural resources could only be achieved by shifting the balance of power from bureaucrats to judges.⁴⁷ The pioneering American statute, the Michigan Environmental Protection Act (MEPA), drafted by Sax and passed in 1970, reflected his theory on the need for courts to protect the environment.⁴⁸ MEPA has since served as the model for citizen suit provisions in numerous U.S statutes and other countries, including Canada.49

At the time, a key concern expressed about establishing environmental rights for citizens was that it could open the floodgates to litigation.⁵⁰ However, a study of the impact of *MEPA* found the Act had not overburdened the courts as opponents had feared.⁵¹ An evaluation of *MEPA*'s effectiveness by various studies has produced mixed results. An assessment eight years after *MEPA* was adopted concluded that there were "intrinsic difficulties of gauging *MEPA*'s substantive impacts" and that *MEPA* cases had produced "a rather unimpressive record."⁵² Yet another study, undertaken twenty-five years after the passage of *MEPA*, concluded that it had achieved its legislative purpose of developing a "common law of environmental quality."⁵³

2.3. History of Environmental Rights in Ontario

Environmental accountability in Ontario was influenced by developments in the United States.⁵⁴

Before the enactment of the *EBR*, environmental decision-making in Ontario had been largely limited to "bipartite bargaining" between government agencies and private proponents, or amongst various levels of government.⁵⁵ The public was not afforded any opportunity to provide input into the government's decision to issue permits, licenses, or orders.⁵⁶ This allowed government ministries to issue approvals to industries authorizing the discharge of contaminants into the natural environment, without providing notice or an opportunity for comment by the residents who would be impacted.⁵⁷ Formal consultation on regulations and policies was rare and occurred on an ad-hoc basis at the discretion of the responsible minister.⁵⁸

This approach increasingly came to be viewed by Ontarians as lacking in political legitimacy.⁵⁹ Public awareness about the negative impacts of pollution and concerns about governments' inability to manage and resolve complex environmental issues were also factors that fuelled the public's demand for comprehensive environmental law reform.⁶⁰ Furthermore, there was a growing recognition that the public's knowledge and awareness of local conditions, which had previously been regarded as irrelevant, was just as essential to environmental decision-making as scientific expertise.⁶¹

The need for an Ontario "Bill of Rights" was first comprehensively articulated by David Estrin and John Swaigen, lawyers with the Canadian Environmental Law Association, in their 1974 edition of *Environment on Trial*. Estrin and Swaigen laid out a strategic blueprint for the bill and recommended it explicitly state that the public should have the right to a healthy environment and that the government has a corresponding duty to protect the environment from degradation.⁶² These provisions were to be supported by other mechanisms, including:

- Access to government information.
- An environmental ombudsman.
- Liberal standing rules.
- Restrictions of cost awards against plaintiffs for environmental cases.
- Shifting the burden of proof in environmental litigation.
- Expanded rights to seek judicial review.⁶³

2.4. The Task Force on the Environmental Bill of Rights

In December 1990, the then Minister of the Environment, Ruth Grier, established an Advisory Committee on the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights. The Advisory Committee included stakeholders from labour, business, environmental groups, First Nations, municipalities, agriculture and staff from various ministries. The Advisory Group was asked to examine the basic principles of an Environmental Bill of Rights and how they could be applied in Ontario. ⁶⁴

The following year, in October 1991, after the completion of the Advisory Committee's work, Minister Grier, established the Task Force on the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights (Task Force). The Task Force, composed of representatives from business, government, and environmental groups, was directed by its terms of reference to achieve consensus on its recommendations.⁶⁵ The Task Force did not want to merely add public participation requirements in the *EBR* as another procedural step in the decision-making process. Rather, the Task Force anticipated that the new procedures would "infuse" government decision-making with the Act's purposes.⁶⁶ In other words, the Task Force assumed that enhancing public participation would increase government accountability which, in turn, would improve the environmental decision-making process and lead to better environmental outcomes.

The EBR was proclaimed in February 1994. At the time, the Act was hailed as "one of the most comprehensive environmental access to justice laws in Canada."⁶⁷ The *EBR* established important mechanisms to improve public participation, transparency, and accountability in environmental decision-making. The Act did not establish a substantive right to a healthy environment but emphasized procedural rights for public participation. The legislation also included several innovative mechanisms for environmental accountability, most notably the establishment of the Office of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario and the requirement of government ministries to develop and implement a Statement of Environmental Values (SEV), discussed below.



Evaluating the EBR

The *EBR* came into effect almost thirty years ago. The passage of time means the *EBR* can be evaluated against its original objectives to assess its effectiveness in promoting environmental accountability for Ontarians.

Reports by independent legislative officers and recent court decisions suggest that provincial government ministries have failed to comply with the *EBR*'s requirements and its intended objectives have been undermined. These evaluations raise important questions about the viability of the political accountability model underlying the *EBR*.

3.1. Non-Compliance with the EBR

The most comprehensive evaluations of the *EBR* have been provided by the Office of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario. The Environmental Commissioner, whose office was established in the original *EBR*, has a statutory responsibility to oversee the operation and implementation of the *EBR*. The Environmental Commissioner has fulfilled this responsibility through annual and special reports to the provincial legislature.

An early evaluation of the *EBR*'s impact on the formulation of environmental law and policy found that it had "provided members of the public with a comprehensive window on environmental decision-making in the province, unlike any which existed before."⁶⁸ In 2015, the Environmental Commissioner echoed this observation:

Thousands of people use the Environmental Registry each year to comment on government initiatives, ranging from technical compliance rules to sweeping policies on land use. Communities and individuals have also had input into site-specific permits and licenses, commenting on concerns such as local air and water quality, habitat protection and noise. Ontarians have also used EBR applications and appeals to convince the government to overhaul legislation, change approvals, and bring in new environmental protections.⁶⁹

The Environmental Commissioner further noted that the public has helped improve a broad range of environmental decisions including, plans for provincial parks, regulations for managing waste pharmaceuticals, the *Mining Act*, guidelines for transit planning as well as numerous companies' Permits to Take Water.⁷⁰

Notwithstanding these positive comments, the Environmental Commissioner has often been critical of government ministries' failure to comply with the requirements of the Act. For example, The Environmental Commissioner's first Annual Report found that ministries were failing to implement the *EBR*. More specifically, the Environmental Commissioner noted that the SEVs prepared by government ministries were vague, lacked details about how ministries would integrate environmental consideration into their decisions, and often failed to provide clear objectives or measurable goals.⁷¹ The Environmental Commissioner also expressed concern about the public's access to information on the Registry.⁷² Shortly afterward, in two separate special reports to the Legislature, the Environmental Commissioner sharply criticized government ministries for non-compliance with the *EBR*. The Environmental Commissioner expressed concerns that ministries were failing to post environmentally significant decisions on the Registry;⁷³ were not providing Ontarians with adequate time, information, and opportunity to comment;⁷⁴ and were failing to assess and report the environmental effects of proposals that were posted on the Registry.⁷⁵

Over the years, the Environmental Commissioner and others have expressed these or similar concerns repeatedly, raising significant questions about the effectiveness of the legislation.

3.2. Narrowing the Scope of the EBR

Since its enactment, the scope of the *EBR* has been narrowed through changes to the approvals process.

For example, in 2010, the Environment Ministry commenced a Modernization of Approvals initiative to expedite its environmental approvals program. This initiative included two significant changes to environmental approvals. These changes have had a significant impact on public participation rights under the *EBR*.

The first change modified the process for obtaining certain environmental approvals. As a general matter, approval from the provincial Environment Ministry is required for anyone who engages in an activity that discharges contaminants into the natural environment that causes or is likely to cause an adverse effect. The Ministry grants such approvals by issuing instruments known as Environmental Compliance Approvals. These instruments usually include legally binding conditions intended to prevent and minimize adverse environmental impacts. To secure an Environmental Compliance Approval, businesses are required to submit an application that is reviewed by the Ministry's engineers and technical staff to ensure the proposed operation complies with regulatory standards. This process is subject to the *EBR*'s public consultation requirements, meaning that the Ministry must post notice of its intention to issue an Environmental Compliance Approval on the Registry and provide an opportunity for public comment.

The Modernization of Approvals initiative modified this process by introducing a self-registration process for certain activities deemed to be less complex and a lower risk to the environment. Under this process, businesses that met the self-registration criteria were required to simply register their activity on the Environmental Activity and Sector Registry ("EASR"), a public web-based system, and comply with standard sector-wide rules.

The second change was that the new two-tiered approval process exempted the self-registration program from the *EBR*'s public consultation requirements and eliminated third-party appeal rights for these approvals, as appeal rights are contingent upon posting instruments on the Registry.

The transformation of the approvals program has had significant consequences for environmental accountability in Ontario, including reducing the number of approvals issued by the Environment Ministry and eliminating public consultation for certain categories of instruments. In the context of activities causing air emissions, for example, it is estimated that the EASR self-regulation program will cover between 50%-70% of air emitters and apply to more than 9,000 provincial facilities.⁷⁶ A review of these reforms by the Environmental Commissioner found that the Environment Ministry had taken a reasonable approach to selecting activities eligible for self-regulation. The Environmental Commissioner determined that the loss of *EBR* participation and appeal rights was mitigated by the public's ability to participate in the development of sector-wide rules for EASR regulated facilities and new safeguards that ensure public concerns are heard regarding specific facilities.⁷⁷

However, an earlier review of the Ministry's environmental approval program by the Auditor General was more critical of the changes to the approvals program.⁷⁸ In her 2016 report, the Auditor General noted:

In most cases, the Ministry must post the details of individual applications for Environmental Approvals Compliance Approvals on the Environmental Registry to inform and give the public an opportunity to comment on proposed polluting activities in their neighbourhood. However, such public consultation is not required if the proposed activity is eligible for self-registration. Public consultation is only conducted on the regulation that sets out activities for self-registration. At this stage, the public does not have the information regarding the potential location and operational details of these individual emitters. As a result, the public does not have an opportunity to comment on many potentially harmful activities before emitters begin to operate.79

The Auditor General found that by 2016, approximately 4,600 operators had self-registered their activities, a number that the Auditor General anticipated would increase as the Ministry added more sectors to the self-registration program.⁸⁰

3.3. Court Decisions

Recent court decisions have been very critical of the provincial government's failure to comply with the *EBR*.

The first case in 2019, *Greenpeace v. Ontario (Minister of the Environment)* (*Greenpeace #1*), considered the Government of Ontario's cancellation of the province's cap-and-trade program, aimed at reducing greenhouse gas emissions, without undertaking public consultation.⁸¹

After the Applicants commenced a judicial review of the Environment Minister's decision, the government passed the *Cap-and-Trade Cancellation Act* which had the effect of repealing the regulation that was the subject of the court challenge.⁸² The new Act also included a privative clause that precluded judicial review of the government's conduct. The Ontario Divisional Court found that the government had acted unlawfully when it failed to consult the public. However, two members of the Court declined to make a formal declaration because it would not have any legal effect, given that the regulation that was the subject of the judicial review had been repealed.⁸³ In a strongly worded dissent, Justice Corbett observed that:

...[a] close look at that [privative] clause could lead to the conclusion that the government was deliberately trying to insulate itself from review for illegality, bad faith or failure to comply with valid, subsisting legislation. This, in turn, could buttress arguments that the clear failure of the government was followed by actions, not acknowledging the error and fixing it, but justifying the error and refusing to permit judicial review of it.⁸⁴

"In a democracy characterized by the Rule of Law," Justice Corbett declared, "the government cannot ignore the *EBR* on the basis that it has the legal authority to govern: its authority to govern is circumscribed by the law."⁸⁵ Subsequently, in Greenpeace Canada (2471256 Canada Inc.) v. Ontario (Minister of the Environment, Conservation and Parks) (Greenpeace #2), the Ontario Divisional Court found that the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing had acted "unreasonably and unlawfully" by failing to consult with the public before making changes that significantly enhanced the power to issue a Minister's Zoning Order under the *Planning* Act.⁸⁶ These amendments, included in Bill 197, the COVID-19 Economic Recovery Act, were passed without public consultation.⁸⁷ The Court found that it was "noteworthy" that the Auditor General had informed the Ministry before the proposed amendments were adopted that they should be posted on the Registry because of their environmental significance.⁸⁸ However, the Ministry failed to do so. Instead, many months after Bill 197 became law the government posted the legislative amendments on the Registry and invited public comment.

In its decision, the Court stated:

...an after-the-fact posting does not satisfy the requirements of the EBR, which is meant to give the public an opportunity to be consulted on certain types of proposals that could have a significant effect on the environment before such a proposal is enacted.⁸⁹

.....

Unlike *Greenpeace # 1,* in this case the Court issued a declaration finding that the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing's actions were contrary to the public participation requirements of the *EBR*.⁹⁰

These court decisions were followed by a further apparent non-compliance in 2022 when the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing posted notice of Bill 109, the *More Homes for Everyone Act, 2022*, on the Registry but enacted legislation before the comment period expired, thereby obviating the opportunity for public comments.⁹¹



Emerging Models of Environmental Accountability

The *EBR's* public participation model was considered ground-breaking at the time. Section 3 outlined many of the issues and questions about the effectiveness of this model and the operation and scope of the *EBR* that have arisen in the last thirty years.

These *EBR* questions and issues, while important, do not address several contemporary and potentiallyfar-reaching law reform questions or strategies to improve environmental accountability in Ontario. For example, since the enactment of the *EBR*, there have been several new (or at least more widely recognized) environmental accountability strategies that have been adopted or are under development in Canada, other provinces, and internationally. In many respects, these strategies represent fundamental reconsiderations or restructuring of the *EBR'*s public participation model. Most notably, the Task Force lacked Indigenous representation and did not discuss accountability mechanisms as they relate to Indigenous Peoples. Nor does the *EBR* acknowledge Indigenous legal orders or perspectives as a principle, or even criteria, governing environmental accountability in Ontario.

Similarly, wider questions regarding environmental justice, the right to a healthy environment, and the rights of nature were not addressed in the *EBR* or the Task Force report.

In light of these developments, the LCO believes that any contemporary consideration of environmental accountability should ask questions about whether these law reform options are appropriate or viable in Ontario today. 5



Consultation Issues – Environmental Bill of Rights

As noted earlier, this Consultation Paper asks two sets of related questions.

First, the paper asks about potential reforms to the *EBR*. Some of these questions are far-reaching, others are technical. Many of these questions are directed to the operation and effectiveness of the *EBR*'s public participation model.

Second, the paper asks potentially more far-reaching and challenging questions, including new principles to govern environmental accountability in Ontario and emerging legal concepts of "environmental justice," the "right to a healthy environment," and how to account for Indigenous issues and legal orders in Ontario's environmental accountability framework.

The sequence of questions does not reflect the LCO's priorities or assumptions about the project. The LCO is seeking input and advice on all questions equally.

5.1. Political versus Legal Accountability

The Task Force articulated several goals for the *EBR* but deemed enhancing government accountability for environmental decision-making the most important.⁹² At its core, the *EBR* was designed to address "the predicament created when government does not meet its share of the responsibility" to protect the environment satisfactorily."⁹³

In designing the *EBR*, the Task Force largely relied on the political accountability model.⁹⁴ It described this approach as "one that does not use the courts to control government conduct but rather empowers individual residents of the province to play a role in protecting the environment."⁹⁵ This meant that the *MEPA*-type access to the courts was not adopted. Instead, the Task Force opted to establish procedural rights to enhance public participation in the government decision-making process. Access to the courts was left as "an exercise of limited last resort."⁹⁶

The tension between political accountability and legal accountability is a recurrent theme in the *EBR*. Paul Muldoon and Richard Lindgren, co-authors of the text, *The Environmental Bill of Rights: A Practical Guide,* have noted that both models have limitations:

...[T]he judicial model could transfer too much power from elected officials in legislatures to unelected judges in the courts...

In effect, the courts could become the focus of environmental decision making, and this could lead to a more costly, time-consuming system because of court delays and make the outcome of disputes far less predictable. Although the EBR was designed to make environmental decision making accessible, reliance on the courts would make it an exclusive club for those who could afford lawyers and endure the complex nature and delays of litigation. The political accountability model also has limitations. "Ballot-box accountability" is often more theoretical than real. While elected political may at times be more accessible, political accountability may not be effective in all instances. In addition, it is the courts' role in a democratic society to oversee the workings of government, to enforce laws, and to reconcile societal values in a fair and impartial manner.⁹⁷

The *EBR*'s emphasis on political accountability has meant opportunities for the public to seek legal accountability for government actions (or inactions) are limited. At the same time, the failure of government ministries to comply with the *EBR* raises important questions about the continued viability of the political accountability model.

Consultation Question 1:

Does the EBR's emphasis on political accountability remain appropriate, or should there be greater emphasis on legal accountability?

If you believe the EBR should include legal accountability mechanisms, should that accountability focus on ministries' compliance with EBR procedural requirements, or should legal accountability be broader, potentially including provisions to ensure the EBR achieves its stated purpose?

5.2. Statement of Environmental Values

5.2.1. Scope

The Task Force recommended that each government ministry be required to prepare a Statement of Environmental Values (SEV) that explained how the EBR purposes would be applied whenever that ministry makes environmentally significant decisions. The Task Force also recommended that each ministry should be required to explain how the SEV would be integrated with other considerations in its decision-making, such as social, economic and scientific considerations.98 In essence, the Task Force expected the SEVs would operate both as a mission statement and a strategic plan for government ministries by establishing specific goals and the means to achieve them.⁹⁹ The Task Force believed that the SEVs would provide the best method of ensuring that the purposes of the EBR were carried through to influence government decision-making on the environment.¹⁰⁰

It is important to note that the Task Force did not expect the SEVs would ensure that the *EBR*'s purposes were embodied in ministries' decisions.¹⁰¹ Rather, the SEVs were intended to ensure that the *EBR's* purposes were considered by ministries in their decisionmaking process.¹⁰² The goal of the SEVs, therefore, was to create a "new attitude" in government when environmentally significant decisions were made."¹⁰³

The implementation of the SEVs have been criticized by courts, the Environmental Commissioner, and the provincial Auditor General.

Section 11 of the *EBR* states that the minister shall take every reasonable step to ensure that the SEV is considered whenever decisions that might significantly affect the environment are considered. The interpretation of section 11 of the *EBR* on government decision-making has been a matter of considerable debate.

The Environment Ministry has taken the position that the SEVs are intended to guide the development of Acts, regulations and policies, but not instruments. The Ministry's position was the subject of a challenge before the Ontario Divisional Court in the 2008 case of *Lafarge Canada Inc. v. Ontario (Environmental Review Tribunal)*.¹⁰⁴ In that case, the Court was asked to determine whether the Environment Ministry's SEV applied to instruments issued by the Ministry. The applicants, a group of residents and environmental groups, asserted that two decisions of the Environment Ministry granting waste and air approvals to a cement manufacturing facility were unreasonable because they did not apply the principles in the Ministry's SEV. Specifically, the decision failed to take an ecosystem approach, which included an assessment of the cumulative impacts of emissions and a precautionary approach, regarding the uncertainty of risk.¹⁰⁵

The Ministry argued that the SEV was intended to be a mission statement that applied to the development of legislation, but not instruments.¹⁰⁶ In fact, the Ministry's SEV was drafted to specifically restrict its application to Acts, regulations, and policies.¹⁰⁷ However, the Divisional Court, in a unanimous decision, rejected the Ministry's interpretation and held that the SEV applied to instruments. The Court noted that this interpretation was consistent with the Environmental Review Tribunal's past jurisprudence on SEVs.¹⁰⁸

The Environmental Commissioner and provincial Auditor General have also been critical of provincial ministries' failure to implement the SEVs. In 2017, the Environmental Commissioner noted that the SEVs have only been "minimally effective" in changing environmental outcomes due, in part, to the failure of ministries to share with the public how the SEVs were considered in decision-making.¹⁰⁹ The Environmental Commissioner stated that if the ministries publicly shared this information, the public would be able to hold ministries accountable for how the SEVs were considered in decision-making."¹¹⁰ In 2021, the Auditor General similarly concluded that government ministries could not consistently demonstrate that they used their SEVs in their environmental decision-making process.¹¹¹

There are several potential law reform options for improving SEVs. For example, SEVs are somewhat analogous to the sustainable development strategies (SDSs) that federal departments and agencies are required to develop under the 1995 amendments to the *Auditor General Act.* Federal SDSs are more detailed than *EBR* SEVs. It is notable, however, that assessments of SDSs impact and effectiveness have been mixed at best.¹¹²

SEVs could also potentially be strengthened as an accountability tool by:

- Amending the *EBR* to require that the SEVs be reviewed and updated within a specified time.
- Amending the *EBR* to require that the SEVS be considered and applied when ministries make environmentally significant decisions regarding a policy, Act, regulation, or instrument.
- Requiring completion and posting of a SEV consideration form on the Registry be undertaken whenever a notice of final decision is posted on the Registry.

Consultation Question 2:

Should SEVs be strengthened to improve the provincial government's environmental accountability? For example,

• Should Ontario adopt the model of sustainable development strategies in the Federal Sustainable Development Act?

• What other measures are required to ensure that the SEVs are strengthened and integrated into environmental decision-making?

5.3. Judicial Review and Remedies

Section 118(1) of the *EBR* contains a broad privative clause that restricts judicial review of government actions.¹¹³ Under the *EBR*, judicial review is only permitted where the Minister or his delegate fails to comply in a "fundamental way" with the public participation requirements under Part II relating to instruments.¹¹⁴ The *EBR* does not specify what constitutes a "fundamental" non-compliance. Muldoon and Lindgren have suggested that a failure to post a notice on the Registry, the failure to comply with the mandatory time requirements for public comment, improperly invoking the emergency powers, or a failure to provide adequate notice are circumstances where there may be grounds to seek judicial review.¹¹⁵

It is important to note judicial review under the *EBR* can only be sought for instruments, and not the SEVs. The Task Force specifically rejected judicial review of the SEVs.¹¹⁶ Instead, the Task Force concluded that the SEVs could be enforced through public reporting on the government's compliance with the *EBR* by the Environmental Commissioner.¹¹⁷

Section 37 of the *EBR* places further restrictions on the scope of judicial review under the *EBR*. This section provides that failure to comply with the public participation rights under Part II of the *EBR* does not affect the validity of any policy, Act, regulation, or instrument. In *Greenpeace #2* the Divisional Court interpreted this provision as precluding the applicants from challenging the validity of the legislative provision at issue.¹¹⁸ The Court noted, however, that section 37 does not preclude the Court from granting declaratory relief for the Minister's failure to post notice of the proposed amendments to the *Planning Act*.

There are several law reform measures that could potentially improve legal accountability under the *EBR*. These include:

- Expanding the scope of judicial review to include the SEVs.
- Modifying or repealing the privative clause in section 118(1).
- Modifying or repealing section 37.

Consultation Question 3:

Are the EBR's restrictions on judicial review and restricted remedies appropriate? For example,

- Should the privative clause in section 118(1) be modified or repealed?
- Should section 37 be modified or repealed to incentivize government compliance?

• If a legal accountability framework is adopted, what legal remedies should be available for non-compliance with the EBR?

5.4. Access to Information

Access to information is essential to ensure the public can participate meaningfully in the environmental decision-making process. Several legal commentators have noted that:

...[i]n the world of environmental advocacy, information is an essential commodity. Without comprehensive and timely information, it may be difficult or impossible to identify, let alone address, many environmental issues.¹¹⁹

The Task Force noted that government policies regarding public participation were "varied and discretionary."¹²⁰ The Task Force, therefore, recommended setting up formal procedural mechanisms for providing the public with access to information. This included:

- Giving the public notice of the government's intention to make an environmentally significant decision on an electronic registry;
- Providing an opportunity to comment on the proposed decision; and
- Ensuring notice of the decision after it had been made.¹²¹

Since its introduction, the Registry has improved access

to information, including technical information about proposals for approval of facilities.¹²² Despite these improvements, concerns remain about provincial ministries failing to post major proposals such as proposed changes to legislation on the Registry;¹²³ the failure to provide the public with complete information about proposals;¹²⁴ and inadequate time for public comment.¹²⁵

The Environment Ministry has sometimes required individuals to submit a request under the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA) for information pertaining to matters posted on the Registry.¹²⁶ This has been the subject of criticism by both the Information and Privacy Commissioner and the Environmental Commissioner.¹²⁷ The EBR generally requires the public to provide comments within a 30 day-period, even though it usually takes much longer to obtain information under FIPPA.¹²⁸As a result, the public's right to comment may be lost if they are required make a formal FIPPA request to obtain information.¹²⁹ This situation is particularly challenging if and when applicants seek leave to appeal an instrument, as applications must be filed within 15 days after notice of the decision has been posted on the Registry.

There are several mechanisms that could improve access to information under the *EBR*. For example,

- The *EBR* could include provisions requiring the government to provide access to information in a reasonable, timely, and affordable way.
- The *EBR* could require the public be provided adequate time to comment when government ministries post major proposals on the Registry.

Consultation Question 4:

Should access to information be improved under the EBR? If so, how?

5.5 Public Trust Doctrine

In contrast to the *Michigan Environmental Protection Act* (discussed in section 2.2 above), the *EBR* does not include the public trust doctrine as a mechanism to ensure government accountability.

The essence of this doctrine is that governments do not "own" public resources, such as rivers or forests, but instead have a positive duty to hold and manage these resources in trust for the benefit of the public at large. If and when governments fail to discharge this duty, the public trust doctrine holds that the trust beneficiaries (the public) should have access to legal remedies.¹³⁰

Some legal experts believe the public trust doctrine has significant potential to provide a firmer legal foundation for government environmental accountability.¹³¹ To be effective as a legal tool, however, the legislation would have to meet three requirements:

- It must define the scope of the public trust (i.e., what resources would be protected from environmental harm);
- It must establish a substantive right for the public to ensure compliance with the trust; and
- It must provide for remedies for breach of the public trust.¹³²

The Task Force did not recommend incorporating the public trust doctrine in the *EBR*. Nevertheless, some legal commentators believe that goals of the SEVs may be similar to the public trust doctrine insofar as both are intended to ensure government environmental accountability.¹³³ However, unlike the public trust doctrine, the SEVs do not impose a legal duty on government which can be enforced through the courts.¹³⁴

Incorporating or adopting the public trust doctrine within the *EBR* would raise numerous challenging issues. For example, policymakers would need to determine:

- Which environmental resources would be subject to the public trust;
- Potential defences and defendants;

- The effect of government authorization of the impugned activity;
- The threshold test to be met before the doctrine could be invoked;
- The forum for adjudicating public trust doctrine issues; and
- Appropriate legal remedies.¹³⁵

Consultation Question 5:

Should the public trust doctrine be included in the EBR affirming the government's obligation to protect the natural environment? If so, how should the law address:

- Type of resources subject to the public trust doctrine
- Potential defences and defendants
- Threshold test to invoke the public trust doctrine
- Most effective forum for adjudicating the public trust doctrine
- Legal remedies

5.6. Commissioner of the Environment

The Task Force recognized that the SEVs and other measures in the *EBR* would have limited impact without additional tools and strategies to hold the government to account.¹³⁶ Accordingly, the Task Force recommended a new independent legislative officer, the Environmental Commissioner, whose mandate would be to monitor the government's compliance with the *EBR*.

The Environmental Commissioner was central to the political accountability model. The Task Force assumed the Environmental Commissioner would provide "objective, non-partisan analysis" and this, in turn, would lead to political accountability.¹³⁷ The Task Force felt the establishment of the Office of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario was preferable to permitting the judicial review of the application or non-application of the SEVs. $^{\rm 138}$

Once the *EBR* was enacted, it became clear that the Environmental Commissioner was not content to simply conduct a process evaluation of the Act. Instead, the Environmental Commissioner's Office consistently provided substantive comments on the adequacy of the environmental policies of government ministries. This aspect of the Commissioner's functions was formally recognized by the Legislature in the 2009 *Green Energy and Green Economy Act*. The Act required the ECO to report annually to the Legislature on the province's progress on climate change and energy conservation.¹³⁹

In 2019, the Government of Ontario passed the *Restoring Trust, Transparency and Accountability Act, (RTTA Act)*, making significant changes to the Environmental Commissioner's role. Under Schedule 15 of the Act, the Environmental Commissioner's responsibilities were transferred to the Office of the Auditor General of Ontario and the Commissioner's title was changed to Commissioner of the Environment. Although these changes seemingly appear to be administrative, a careful review suggests otherwise.¹⁴⁰

As a result of the *RTTA Act*, the Environmental Commissioner is no longer an independent officer appointed by the Ontario Legislature. Instead, the Environmental Commissioner is now an employee of the Auditor General and is expected to perform the duties assigned by the Auditor General.¹⁴¹ The Environmental Commissioner remains responsible for overseeing and reporting on the operation of the *EBR* but is also required to lead the Auditor General's value-for-money audits on the Ontario government's environmental programs, a responsibility that had previously been undertaken by the Office of the Auditor-General.¹⁴²

Further, the requirement that the Environmental Commissioner report on the Ontario government's progress in reducing energy conservation and reducing greenhouse emissions is no longer mandatory. Rather, the Auditor General has the discretion to determine whether the Environmental Commissioner will continue reporting on these issues.¹⁴³ The Environmental Commissioner's public education mandate was also transferred to Ontario's Environment Minister.¹⁴⁴ In November 2021, the Auditor General commented on this change, noting that "[u]nder the EBR Act, the Environment Ministry is required to provide educational programs about the EBR Act to the public, but it is still not doing so."145 The Auditor General also found that the Ministry did little to "actively reach out and educate the public, and did not have any specific funds budgeted for educational programs.¹⁴⁶ The transfer of responsibilities to the Environment Ministry has also raised concerns that public trust and confidence in the EBR may be undermined, given that the Environment Minister and his staff are usually the respondents in legal proceedings brought by members of the public under the Act.¹⁴⁷ As one legal commentator observed:

...it is unrealistic to expect... officials to provide credible and comprehensive advice to the people of Ontario on how to effectively use EBR tools to hold the provincial government accountable in the environmental context.¹⁴⁸

Finally, applications under the *EBR* (including applications for review of environmental statutes, regulations, policies and instruments and applications for investigation) no longer must be filed with the Environmental Commissioner. Instead, they now are filed only with the appropriate government ministries, prompting concern that the Environmental Commissioner will be unable to oversee ministries' response to applications under the *EBR*.¹⁴⁹

It has been argued the transfer of the Environmental Commissioner's responsibilities to the Auditor General's office fundamentally altered the role of the Environmental Commissioner as envisaged by the Tasks Force. The Task Force considered it necessary to entrench the Environmental Commissioner under the *EBR* as an independent officer of the Legislature. This was done to assist the Environmental Commissioner fulfill her or his central role in ensuring political accountability under the *EBR*.¹⁵⁰ The Task Force anticipated the Environmental Commissioner would play two roles: First, as an environmental auditor responsible for overseeing the functions and administration of the *EBR*. Second, as a policy advocate with a public education role.¹⁵¹ The combination of these roles is regarded as having contributed to the Office of the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario's efficacy and high profile on a broad range of critical environmental issues, including highlighting the "systemic non-compliance with the *EBR* by the provincial government."¹⁵²

The significant changes implemented by the *RRTA* raise concerns about whether the Environmental Commissioner will continue to play an important role in ensuring environmental accountability in Ontario.¹⁵³

Among the law reform options to consider are:

- Restoring the Environmental Commissioner's role and responsibilities as they existed prior to the *RTTA Act*.
- Enshrining a mandate for the Environmental Commissioner to report on substantive government environmental performance, including climate change.
- Amending the *EBR* to specifically require government ministries to respond to the recommendations in the Environmental Commissioner's Annual and Special Reports.

Consultation Question 6:

Should the Environmental Commissioner's powers be strengthened to ensure government accountability? If so, what amendments or changes are required to the role of the Environmental Commissioner to help strengthen government accountability?

5.7 Public Participation and Access to Justice

5.7.1. Intervenor Funding

There were certain assumptions made by the Task Force in designing the *EBR*. It relied on the availability of other legal mechanisms for access to justice in respect of environmental harm, including class proceedings and intervenor funding for environmental claims.

Class proceedings legislation had just been passed at the time of the Task Force Report. The Task Force viewed this reform as an integral element of the *EBR* which, although in different legislation, would work together.¹⁵⁴ The new class action procedure was seen as an important means for increasing access to justice and allowing "otherwise uneconomical claims into the court system for redress."¹⁵⁵ It would also act as a deterrent to widespread environmental harm.

At the time of the Task Force's Report, intervenor funding for public interest litigants to participate in environmental hearings was available in Ontario as a pilot project and had just been renewed for a further four-year period. The Task Force expressly stated that its recommendations should be read in the context of the continuing availability of this tool for increasing public access to environmental tribunals.¹⁵⁶

Shortly after the *EBR* was enacted, the Environmental Commissioner indicated that although there was resistance to the concept of funding public participation, she intended to discuss this issue with industry and government.¹⁵⁷ However, funding for public participation never materialized under the *EBR*, and intervenor funding expired more than twenty-five years ago.

5.7.2. Reforms to Public Nuisance

The Task Force acknowledged that political accountability would not always be sufficient to meet the *EBR*'s objectives. Accordingly, they believed the public should have an enhanced right to sue those who harm the environment.¹⁵⁸ As a result, the Task Force recommended an incremental liberalization of the standing rule in respect of environmental public nuisances. More specifically, they recommended abolishing the common law requirement that a plaintiff suffer a "special damage." They believed, however, that the requirement for a direct personal or pecuniary loss should continue to apply.¹⁵⁹

These recommendations were enacted in the *EBR*. Section 103 provides that where a plaintiff has suffered direct economic loss or personal injury from a public nuisance, the action is not barred because the Attorney General has not consented to the action or because other persons have suffered loss or injury of the same kind or degree. The Task Force recommended that these incremental reforms to public nuisance be evaluated after a few years to assess their impact on access to justice for environmental claims.¹⁶⁰ This evaluation does not appear to have occurred.

5.7.3. Third-Party Party Appeals

Although the *EBR* liberalized the standing requirement for public nuisance, other provisions limited access to justice. For instance, the *EBR* does not provide the public with an automatic right to appeal an instrument. Instead, section 38 of the Act states that prospective third-party applicants must establish they have standing to bring an appeal.

Under the *EBR*, a party who seeks leave to appeal an instrument is required to demonstrate an "interest" in the proposal. Section 38(3) provides a liberal interpretation of the term and states that the "interest" requirement can be met by a person who has previously sent comments on a proposal. In practice, these sections can be onerous, however, particularly for low-income individuals or marginalized communities without access to the Registry. Once the standing requirement has been met, an applicant must also obtain leave to appeal from the appropriate appellate body by satisfying a two-part test. Section 41 of the *EBR* states that:

Leave to appeal a decision shall not be granted unless it appears to the appellate body that,

(a) there is good reason to believe that no reasonable person, having regard to the relevant law and to any government policies developed to guide decisions of that kind, could have made the decision; and

(b) the decision in respect of which an appeal is sought could result in significant harm to the environment.

In other words, this test requires the third-party applicant to establish a prima facie case that the decision was not reasonable and that it could result in significant harm to the environment.¹⁶¹

There are reasons to believe these provisions are too restrictive. Between 2009 and 2019, there were on average only five applications for leave to appeal per year. Leave was granted only in 21% of those cases.¹⁶²

The low number of applications for leave to appeal has raised questions about whether the s. 41 leave test unduly restricts access to justice. This may be particularly true now, as the Ontario Land Tribunal's new Rules of Practice and Procedure allows the Tribunal, on its own initiative, to dismiss a matter without a hearing where it determines the matter is frivolous, vexatious, or commenced in bad faith.¹⁶³

Finally, the *EBR* specifies that an application for leave to appeal must be filed within 15 days after the notice of decision is posted on the Registry. The Environmental Commissioner has expressed concerns that the deadline is too tight, and that it should be increased to 20 days.¹⁶⁴

Consultation Question 7:

Is it necessary to improve access to justice under the EBR? If so, how should the law, policies, or rules address

- Standing rules in section 38
- Public nuisance standing under section 103
- Intervenor funding
- Leave to appeal
- Other amendments or reforms to promote access to justice

5.8. Harm to Public Resource

The Task Force recommended a new cause of action for harm to a public resource but took a cautious approach. It recommended limiting the cause of action to environmental harms resulting from the contravention of prescribed provincial statutes, regulations, or instruments. As a result, no matter how egregious the environmental harm, the Task Force believed that no cause of action should lie unless it was already being regulated.¹⁶⁵

Section 84 of the *EBR* implemented this recommendation and creates a limited cause of action for Ontario residents alleging harm or imminent harm to a public resource. The effect of the provision is to hold government to account only if it was already protecting the public resource but doing so insufficiently.

Section 84 includes several limits on legal actions, including the precondition that a plaintiff must first pursue an application for investigation with the appropriate government ministry. The policy rationale for this requirement was to ensure that the responsible ministry with the regulatory mandate over such matters was first allowed to take appropriate action.¹⁶⁶ If the ministry refuses to act, or has provided an unreasonable response, the plaintiff may then proceed with a section 84 action. The *EBR* also provides a defence against an s. 84 action if the defendant satisfies the court that it complied with an interpretation of the instrument that is reasonable.¹⁶⁷ As one legal commentator has noted, "[t]his defense appears to allow for mistake of law or reasonable but erroneous interpretation of the law, even though the courts have not historically accepted such a defense."¹⁶⁸

These limitations, coupled with the high costs of litigation and the possibility of adverse costs if an action is unsuccessful, are likely to deter potential plaintiffs from pursuing s. 84 actions.¹⁶⁹

Section 84(7) of the *EBR* also prohibits a plaintiff from bringing an action under s.84 as a class proceeding. This recommendation was not made by the Task Force. In fact, given that the Task Force viewed class proceeding reform as integral to the *EBR*, this provision seems somewhat unusual.¹⁷⁰

Perhaps not surprisingly, s. 84 actions have rarely been commenced and the LCO has not found any case that has proceeded to trial. The Environmental Commissioner has concluded that s. 84 is "essentially useless."¹⁷¹

Law reform issues and questions to consider include:

- Amending the *EBR* to modify the test for bringing a civil action for harm to a public resource so that it is less of a barrier to a plaintiff.
- Amend or delete section 84(7).

Consultation Question 8:

Should the right to sue for harm to a public resource be modified? If so, how?

5.9. Exemptions to the EBR

The *EBR* exempts proposals from its public consultation requirements under certain conditions. These include:

- Proposals for statutes, regulations and policies that are predominantly financial or fiscal in nature;
- Emergencies;
- Proposals that have been or will be considered under substantially equivalent processes;
- Instruments intended to implement an undertaking that have been approved or exempted under the *Environmental Assessment Act*; and
- Proposals that give effect to the budget or economic statements provided to the Ontario Legislature. ¹⁷²

Since the inception of the *EBR*, government ministries have relied on omnibus bills to make substantive changes to environmental laws without providing an opportunity for public notice and comment.¹⁷³ The use of omnibus bills to enact, amend, or repeal multiple statutes has been criticized for precluding parliamentary scrutiny and debate on proposed legislation.¹⁷⁴

In addition, government ministries have occasionally disregarded EBR exception provisions and enacted regulations to exempt the application of the Act for a specified time to address government priorities.¹⁷⁵ This occurred most recently in April 2020, when the provincial government passed Ontario Regulation 115/20 under the *EBR*. The regulation made two major exemptions to environmental rights under the EBR. The first provided that environmentally significant government proposals, including statutes, regulations, policies, and instruments did not have to be posted on the Registry for public consultation. This provision had the effect of eliminating third-party appeal rights for instruments. The second stated that ministries did not have to consider the SEVs when making environmentally significant decisions. The government claimed that the exemption was intended to allow it to respond expeditiously to issues related to COVID-19. The exemptions were in place for more than ten weeks from April 1, 2020, to June 15, 2020.

The regulation was criticized by the Environmental Commissioner for being unnecessarily broad. The Environmental Commissioner noted that the exemption also applied to proposals unrelated to COVID-19, resulting in the elimination of public participation rights:

...members of the public lost their right to seek leave to appeal ministries' decisions on 197 environmentally significant permits and approvals that were proposed during the exemption period – permits and approvals that, for example, would allow industrial facilities to discharge pollutants to the air and water in Ontario communities – and that were unrelated to COVID-19.¹⁷⁶

The loss of public participation rights could have been avoided, the Environmental Commissioner observed, had the Environment Ministry drafted a more "targeted exemption that only applied to urgent decisions that were related to the pandemic."¹⁷⁷

5.9.1. Exemption of the Ministry of Finance

The *EBR* provides that proposals for policies, Acts, or regulations are exempt from the public notice and comment provisions of the *EBR* if they are predominantly financial or administrative in nature.

Approximately one year after the *EBR* was enacted, the provincial government enacted Ontario Regulation 482/95 permanently exempting the Ministry of Finance from the requirements of the *EBR*. The move was unexpected given that the Ministry of Finance had previously been included among the 14 prescribed ministries and had, in fact, finalized its SEV.

The exemption was criticized by the Environmental Commissioner and was the subject of a special report to the Legislative Assembly of Ontario.¹⁷⁸ In her report, the Environmental Commissioner noted that the Ministry of Finance played a central role in the province's efforts to achieve a healthy and sustainable environment. The Environmental Commissioner further noted that the Ministry's core mandate was to recommend taxation, fiscal, economic, and regional policies, all of which have the potential to have significant environmental effects. The Environmental Commissioner pointed out that most governments in industrialized countries were taking steps to integrate economic and environmental considerations in government policies. This was reflected in the use of "green taxes" and other economic instruments to further their environmental agenda.¹⁷⁹

Under the *EBR*, the provincial Ministry of Finance's key responsibility was to ensure that its SEV was considered when making environmentally significant decisions. Exempting the Ministry of Finance meant that it no longer had to consider environmental factors in its decision-making. The resulting decisions, the Environmental Commissioner cautioned, "will potentially ignore or undervalue important environmental factors. In the long run, the people of Ontario and the environment will suffer."¹⁸⁰

Consultation Question 9:

Should additional ministries, including the Ministry of Finance, be subject to the EBR?

5.9.2. Substantially Equivalent Process Exemption

Section 30 of the *EBR* allows a proposal to be exempt from the *EBR's* public participation requirements if the proposal has been considered in a public participation process that is "substantially equivalent" to the *EBR* process. The Act, however, does not provide guidance on the meaning of the term "substantially equivalent." ¹⁸¹

In *Greenpeace #1*, referenced above, the government claimed that the 2018 provincial election was a consultation process that met *EBR* requirements. The government asserted that including a promise to repeal the provincial cap-and-trade program in its election platform was "substantially equivalent" to the process required by the *EBR*. The government argued, therefore, that it was not required to provide

notice of its intention to repeal the cap-and-trade program on the Registry. The Court rejected the government's position noting that the *EBR* "provides for a comprehensive process that goes well beyond the blandishments of the campaign trail."¹⁸²

Consultation Question 10:

Are specific criteria required for section 30 of the EBR? If so, how should they be defined?

5.10 Environmental Assessment Exemption

Section 32 of the *EBR* allows for an exemption to public participation rights under Part II of the *EBR* for instruments that are a step towards implementing undertakings that have been approved or exempted under Ontario's *Environmental Assessment Act (EAA*).

The Task Force recommended this exemption to ensure consistency between the new law and existing regulatory frameworks.¹⁸³ The Task Force wanted to ensure that the *EBR* did not duplicate comparable public participation processes under other environmental statutes. Furthermore, at that time, the *Intervenor Funding Project Act* was in effect and had enhanced public participation in the environmental assessment and planning process.¹⁸⁴

Since the Task Force made its recommendations, Ontario's environmental assessment regime has undergone significant reforms which have imposed barriers to public participation rights.¹⁸⁵

In a special report to the Ontario Legislature, the Environmental Commissioner stated that the "EAA consultation processes are not consistently comparable to those provided by the *EBR*."¹⁸⁶ The Environmental Commissioner expressed concerns that government ministries were applying the section 32 exception broadly and thereby "depriving the public of their right to notification and comment on many instruments that affect Ontario's environment."¹⁸⁷ The Environmental Commissioner recommended it would be preferable that instruments implementing an environmental assessment undertaking not be subject to a section 32(1)(b) exception unless the proponent can demonstrate that public consultation on the undertaking was similar to that provided by the *EBR*. ¹⁸⁸ The Environmental Commissioner also suggested the exemption could simply be removed from the *EBR* to ensure that the public notice was provided in all instances as this would allow for the consideration of new technical information for undertakings that had been approved under the *EAA* many years ago.¹⁸⁹

Consultation Question 11:

Should section 32 of the EBR be amended? If so, how?

6



Consultation Issues – Emerging Environmental Accountability Strategies and Priorities

This section of the Consultation Paper goes beyond the parameters of the current *EBR* to address several potentially more far-reaching and challenging environmental accountability strategies and issues, including questions about new principles to govern environmental accountability in Ontario. These include:

- New governing principles for the *EBR*.
- Environmental justice.
- The right to a healthy environment.
- Indigenous issues and legal orders in Ontario's environmental accountability framework.

6.1. Purpose and Governing Principles

Section 2(1) of the *EBR* states that the purposes of the Act are to protect, conserve and where reasonable restore the integrity of the environment; provide sustainability to the environment; and protect the right to a healthful environment. Section 2(2) of the *EBR* adds additional purposes, including pollution prevention and biodiversity conservation.

Since the *EBR* was enacted 30 years ago, new environmental principles have emerged and been recognized by courts and legislators.¹⁹⁰ These include the following principles or priorities:

• The precautionary principle which holds that where there is evidence of serious harm to the environment or human health, lack of scientific certainty should not be used by decision-makers to postpone mitigative measures.

- The polluter-pays principle which states that those who cause pollution should bear the responsibility for the costs of the damage.
- The principle of environmental justice which requires measures to prevent, minimize or mitigate the impacts of pollution on low-income and marginalized communities who bear a disproportionate burden of pollution.
- The principle of intergenerational equity which states that there should be fairness among present and future generations in the use and conservation of the environment and natural resources.
- The principle of non-regression which prohibits any weakening of existing environmental laws.

This "menu" of potential priorities/principles is long and complex. At this stage, the LCO is seeking advice on whether the *EBR* should adopt any of these or other principles or priorities as legislative objectives.

Consultation Question 12:

Do the purposes and governing principles of the EBR remain appropriate? Are there other principles or purposes that should be explicitly recognized in the EBR? If so, why?

6.2. Indigenous Peoples

The themes of Aboriginal rights, Indigenous sovereignties, and reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples were not considered and addressed at the time of the *EBR*'s development. As a result, the *EBR* does not reflect important developments in relation to Indigenous Peoples and the Crown over the past quarter of a century. These developments include:

- The legal recognition of the Crown's duty to consult and accommodate where the rights of Indigenous Peoples may be affected;¹⁹¹
- The tabling of the report and calls to action of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission;¹⁹² and,
- Canada's legislative recognition of the UNDRIP Act.¹⁹³

The UNDRIP Act, enacted on June 21, 2021, imposes obligations on the Federal government: to ensure all federal laws are consistent with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples; to prepare an action plan to achieve the objectives of the Declaration; and to file annual progress reports with Parliament. British Columbia has also adopted legislation recognizing UNDRIP as the basis of its framework for reconciliation with Indigenous Peoples.¹⁹⁴ This initiative is consistent with the recommendations from the Truth and Reconciliation Commission, which called upon all levels of government to fully adopt and implement the UNDRIP as the framework for reconciliation.¹⁹⁵ To date, Ontario has taken no formal legal measures regarding the adoption of UNDRIP in the province.

Nor does the *EBR* reflect Indigenous law and perspectives around environmental governance and stewardship and the resolution of disputes.¹⁹⁶ Moreover, the original *EBR* did not consider some of the practical challenges for Indigenous people to engage in public participation under the *EBR*. For example, consider the issue of *EBR* notice and standing. It is essential for an individual who wants to exercise public participation rights under the *EBR* to have access to the Registry to obtain notice about a proposal. These notices are only accessible through the Internet. Indigenous communities in Northern Ontario, however, often lack access to reliable and affordable high-speed internet access.¹⁹⁷ This can affect not only the right to obtain notice and provide comments, but also the ability to bring an application for leave to appeal an instrument.

Additionally, the *EBR* requires a party who wants to seek leave to appeal an instrument to demonstrate an "interest" in the proposal. Section 38(3) of the *EBR* provides a liberal interpretation of the term and states that the "interest" requirement can be met by a person who has previously sent comments on a proposal. Meeting this threshold may be difficult for some Indigenous communities, given the lack of funding and provision of internet services.

The LCO acknowledges that Indigenous communities across Ontario and Canada have developed sophisticated environmental analyses, frameworks, and legal orders for ensuring environmental accountability. The LCO will develop a dedicated Indigenous strategy to learn more about these efforts and if, or how, they may relate to *EBR* reform.

Consultation Question 13:

Should the EBR be modified to meet new obligations regarding the rights of Indigenous Peoples? If so,

• How can Indigenous law and perspectives be recognized and applied in the context of the EBR?

• What are the barriers for Indigenous people participating in the EBR process and how should they be addressed?

- Are there additional methods of providing notice that would bring forward Indigenous rights and interests?
- What are the best ways to meet Indigenous consultation and engagement requirements?

6.3. Right to a Healthy Environment

The only reference to a right to a healthy environment (RTHE) in the *EBR* is contained in the preamble. Since a preamble only serves as an interpretative aid to a statute, the *EBR* does not provide for a substantive right to a healthy environment that can be enforced by the public.¹⁹⁸

Some Canadian legal scholars have maintained that the right to a healthy environment is a fundamental human right, which deserves constitutional protection.¹⁹⁹ Entrenching the right to a healthy environment in the Canadian Constitution, they contend, can promote government accountability by providing citizens with access to the courts for a violation of the right.²⁰⁰ It is also believed that this approach would provide the greatest level of environmental protection as statutes and government actions would have to conform.²⁰¹ Some also argue that enshrinement of a right to a healthy environmental justice by ensuring a basic standard of environmental quality is applied equally to everyone.²⁰²

There have been various proposals over the years to include a right to a healthy environment in Canada's Constitution. These efforts at constitutional reform have been unsuccessful.²⁰³ Consequently, in contrast to the citizens of many other countries, Canadians do not have a constitutional right to a healthy environment.

Some Canadian provinces, including Quebec, Yukon, the Northwest Territories and Nunavut have legislated environmental rights.²⁰⁴ However, like the *EBR*, their effectiveness is considered quite limited.²⁰⁵ Efforts to legislate environmental rights in other provinces, such as British Columbia, Alberta, and Saskatchewan have, thus far, been unsuccessful.²⁰⁶

In the federal context, the right to a healthy environment has received formal acknowledgment in Bill C-28, which proposed amendments to the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act.* The Bill, which was introduced in the House of Commons on April 13, 2021, followed several private member bills that would have recognized a right to a healthy environment in federal law. Bill C-28, however, was not voted on before the end of the 2021 legislative session and did not come into force. On February 9, 2022, the Federal Government introduced Bill S-5, *Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act*. In most respects, Bill S-5 is similar to Bill C-28 and includes a right to a healthy environment. However, Bill S-5, like the *EBR*, fails to provide a remedy, in the event of a breach of the right. Moreover, the right may be balanced with other factors, including social, economic, health and scientific factors.²⁰⁷

On July 8, 2022, the United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) adopted a resolution declaring access to a clean, healthy, and sustainable environment as a universal human right.²⁰⁸ The text of the resolution is similar to the Human Rights Council resolution that was adopted the previous year.²⁰⁹ Significantly, the UNGA resolution notes that while "the human rights implications of environmental damage are felt by individuals and communities around the world, the consequences are felt most acutely by women and girls and those segments of the population that are already in vulnerable situations, including indigenous peoples, children, older persons and persons with disabilities."²¹⁰ Although the resolution is not legally binding, it is expected to be a "catalyst for action and to empower ordinary people to hold their governments accountable."²¹¹ To date, the right to a healthy environment is recognized by more than 80% (156 of 193) of member states of the United Nations.²¹²

The right to a healthy environment was considered by the Task Force. The Task Force agreed that the public had a right to a healthful environment and believed it was implicitly recognized under Ontario's environmental laws. In its deliberations, the Task Force considered whether the *EBR* should incorporate environmental rights in a framework similar to the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*. The Task Force queried whether the Legislature should be prohibited from enacting laws that harmed or had the potential to harm the environment. However, this approach was not adopted because the Task Force thought that it would create too much "uncertainty while the courts considered government decisions with respect to the environment."²¹³ There is empirical evidence that a constitutional right to a healthy environment can improve government accountability, enhance public participation in environmental decision- making and improve environmental performance.²¹⁴ While a legislative right is unlikely to have the same impact as a constitutional right, some legal experts believe a legislative right can still improve environmental protection.²¹⁵ A legislated right to a healthy environment is also arguably an important mechanism to address the adverse impacts of environmental degradation caused by private actors when governments fail to act.

Consequently, the inclusion of the right to a healthy environment in the *EBR* warrants consideration. That said, this is a very complex law reform issue, as there are many important questions about how such a right could or should be recognized or implemented. For example,

- How would the right be defined?
- How could or should the right be operationalized?
- What level of environmental quality should be protected?
- Who would be the beneficiary of such a right?
- Should the right be enforced against government or private actors, or both?
- Appropriate legal remedies?

Consultation Issue 14:

Should the EBR be amended to include a substantive RTHE? If so, how should the law address the following issues:

- Definition
- Adjudication forum
- Applicability and Enforceability
- Standing
- Evidential standard
- Defences
- Remedies

6.4. Environmental Justice

Environmental justice has been defined as both a social movement and a theoretical framework for assessing whether environmental risks and burdens are distributed fairly in society.²¹⁶ At the risk of oversimplification, environmental justice analysis seeks to evaluate the impact of environmental risks and harms from a geographic, racial, and/or class perspective to determine whether risks and harms are shared equally. Environmental justice analysis also asks whether there is differential access and influence over environmental decision-making.²¹⁷

Studies show that low-income and marginalized communities in Canada, including Indigenous communities, are disproportionately impacted by pollution. A United Nations Special Rapporteur's report in 2020, for example, concluded that poor communities in Toronto and Hamilton faced a disproportionate burden of exposure to industrial pollution.²¹⁸

Indigenous Peoples were found to face greater exposure to hazardous substances than the rest of the population. The Special Rapporteur noted that the Grassy Narrows First Nation and the Wabaseemoong (Whitedog) Independent Nations were still suffering serious health impacts from mercury poisoning which occurred over 50 years ago.²¹⁹ Over half of the community members either had or were suspected to have Minamata disease, a neurological disease linked to mercury exposure.²²⁰

The Aamjiwnaang First Nation in Sarina was described in the Special Rapporteur's report as facing conditions that were "profoundly unsettling."²²¹ The community is almost entirely surrounded by industrial facilities and residents suffer from "physiological and mental stress" because of "the risk of impending explosions or other disasters and because of chronic exposure to unquestionably poisonous substances."²²² A 2005 study found that the number of boys born relative to the number of girls had been sharply declining in the Aamjiwnaang First Nation community and recommended additional studies to determine if the skewed sex ratio was caused by chronic exposure to toxic chemical pollution.²²³ There have also been other studies in the area which have found changes in the "sex ratios and reproductive ability of fish, bird and turtle populations" which are thought to be the result of exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals.²²⁴ A 2013 study of Aamjiwnaang mothers and children found that their bodies contained pollutants that were associated with the industries operating nearby, including elevated levels of cadmium, mercury, perfluorinated compounds and polychlorinated biphenyl also known as PCB.²²⁵ According to the Environmental Commissioner, there is "strong evidence that pollution is causing people in Aamjiwnaang adverse health effects which neither the federal nor provincial government have properly investigated." ²²⁶ Accordingly, the Environmental Commissioner has recommended, that "environmental justice to be part of the Ontario government's pursuit of reconciliation with Indigenous people."227

The Environmental Commissioner has stated that the Indigenous people and communities are disproportionately impacted by pollution.²²⁸ This has exposed them to serious health effects and resulted in what is known as air pollution "hot spots."²²⁹ The Environment Commissioner has, thus, recommended the Ministry ensure all forms of environmental approvals consider the cumulative effects of pollution from regulated activities.²³⁰

The Environment Ministry has since developed a cumulative effects assessment policy which came into effect on October 1, 2018.²³¹ However, the policy has been characterized by some as a "major disappointment," as it only applies to two contaminants, benzene and benzo[a]pyrene, in the Hamilton/Burlington region, and only benzene in the Sarina/Corunna region.²³² Moreover, the policy does not apply to existing facilities, but only covers new and expanding facilities.²³³ Consequently, there are concerns that the policy will be ineffective in preventing the deterioration of air quality in pollution hot spots in the province.²³⁴ The Ministry has indicated that the policy may be extended to other contaminants and to other areas of the province, but this has not yet occurred.²³⁵

At the federal level, there have been recent efforts to advance environmental justice through private member bills that were introduced in the House of Commons. These include Bill C-219, *Canadian Environmental Bill of Rights*²³⁶ and Bill C-230, *National Strategy to Redress Environmental Racism Act.*²³⁷

Bill C-219 is the latest in a series of private bills that were introduced in the Federal Parliament to enact a Canadian environmental bill of rights.²³⁸ The Bill states that every enactment in the bill must be interpreted in accordance with environmental law principles including:

the principle of environmental justice according to which there should be a just distribution of environmental benefits and burdens among Canadians, without discrimination on the basis of any ground prohibited by the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms.²³⁹

Environmental justice concerns are also addressed in Bill C-230. The Bill marks the first time that environmental racism has been addressed in proposed legislation in Canada.²⁴⁰ The Bill's preamble acknowledges that a disproportionate number of people who live in environmentally hazardous areas are members of Indigenous, racialized or other marginalized communities. The Minister of the Environment is required by the Bill to develop a national strategy to advance environmental justice and to assess, prevent and address environmental racism.²⁴¹ The study must include an examination of the link between race, socio-economic status and environmental risk;²⁴² information and statistics relating to the location of environmental hazards; ²⁴³ and measures to address environmental racism.²⁴⁴ In developing the strategy, the Minister is required to undertake consultation with Indigenous and other communities. Furthermore, the Minister is required to table the national strategy in the Federal Parliament and publish it on the Department of Environment's website.

Although both bills have received strong support from civil society organizations, they have not yet been enacted into law.

Consultation Question 15:

Should the EBR address environmental justice? If so, should the EBR impose a statutory duty on government ministries to ensure engagement with low-income and marginalized communities in environmental decision-making?

6.5. Rights of Nature

Over the last decade, the "rights of nature" has emerged as a new approach to protecting the environment. The "rights of nature" doctrine represents a fundamental cultural shift in how we regard nature. It rejects the anthropocentric view of nature as a commodity and emphasizes the interconnectedness and interdependence of ecosystems and humans.²⁴⁵

The establishment of legal rights for nature is an important component of this new concept. The idea of nature having inherent rights is not new. It has been historically recognized by other cultures in many parts of the world. Indigenous cultures, for example, "cultivate complex understanding of human responsibilities toward the natural world."²⁴⁶ A central element of the legal system of many Indigenous cultures is a "set of reciprocal rights and responsibilities between humans and other species, as well as between humans and non-living elements of the environment."²⁴⁷

The case for extending legal rights to nature was articulated several decades ago by Christopher Stone, a law professor at the University of Southern California, in his seminal law journal article titled "Should Trees Have Standing?- Towards Legal Rights For Natural Objects." Stone asserted that forests, oceans, rivers and the natural environment as a whole should be granted legal rights.²⁴⁸ This would allow lawsuits to be commenced on behalf of various elements of nature, without necessitating evidence of personal, property or economic injury.²⁴⁹ Under this new paradigm, ecosystems would be conferred legal status and entitled to legal representation by guardians who could take legal action to protect the ecosystem from environmental harm.²⁵⁰

In February 2021, the "rights of nature" received formal acknowledgment for the first time in Canada when legal personhood was granted to the Muteshekau Shipu (Magpie River) in Quebec. The Minganie Regional County Municipality and the Innu Council of Ekuanitshit passed joint resolutions recognizing the river as having certain fundamental rights, including the right to sue.²⁵¹ The resolutions were passed to prevent environmental degradation of the river by further hydroelectric development.²⁵²

While it remains unclear whether the resolutions will be upheld in court, the move reflects a growing global trend to grant legal personhood to nature which has occurred in Ecuador, Columbia, India, New Zealand, and the United States.

The "rights of nature" doctrine raises many questions, including who would be responsible for appointing a guardian, the appropriate scope of the guardian's role and duties, the ramifications, if any, for a guardian's failure to commence a legal action, how damages would be assessed and who would be responsible for paying damages.

Consultation Question 16:

Should the EBR recognize the rights of nature? If so, how?

Consultation Process and Next Steps

The LCO believes that successful law reform depends on broad and accessible consultations with individuals, communities, and organizations across Ontario.

The release of this Consultation Paper launches an intense period of public consultations. During this period, the LCO will consult with a broad array of stakeholders, including lawyers and legal organizations, environmental NGOs, industry representatives, academics, Indigenous communities, government and justice system leaders, and individual Ontarians interested in environmental issues.

To this end, the LCO will be organizing several consultation processes over the next several months:

Written Submissions

The LCO encourages written submissions. Written submissions can be sent to the LCO's general email address at LawCommission@lco-cdo.org.

The deadline for written submissions is November 25, 2022.

The LCO is committed to sharing ideas and building constructive dialogue. Accordingly, the LCO expects to post written submissions on our project webpage, subject to limited exceptions. Individuals or organizations wishing to provide a written submission may want to contact the LCO for further information prior to their submission.

Meetings/Forums/Workshops/Partnerships

The LCO expects to organize a wide range of meetings, forums, or workshops on environmental accountability issues over the next several months. The LCO is strongly committed to partnering with interested organizations and stakeholders to develop consultation initiatives. Individuals or organizations interested in working with the LCO are encouraged to contact our Project Lead.

Project updates and events will also be posted on the LCO's project page: <u>https://www.lco-cdo.org/en/our-current-projects/</u>

Project Lead and Contacts

The LCO's Project Lead is Ramani Nadarajah. She can be contacted at <u>rnadarajah@lco-cdo.org</u>.

The LCO can also be contacted at:

Law Commission of Ontario 2032 Ignat Kaneff Building Osgoode Hall Law School, York University 4700 Keele Street Toronto, Ontario, Canada M3J 1P3

Email: LawCommission@lco-cdo.org Web: www.lco-cdo.org Twitter: @LCO_CDO Tel: (416) 650-8406 Toll-free: 1 (866) 950-8406

Appendix A: List of Consultation Questions

Consultation Question 1:

Does the *EBR*'s emphasis on political accountability remain appropriate, or should there be greater emphasis on legal accountability? If so, should legal accountability focus on ministries' compliance with *EBR* procedural requirements, or should legal accountability be broader, potentially including provisions to ensure the *EBR* achieves its stated purpose?

Consultation Question 2:

Should Statements of Environmental Values (SEVs) be strengthened to improve the provincial government's environmental accountability? For example,

- Should Ontario adopt the model of sustainable development strategies in the *Federal Sustainable Development Act*?
- What other measures are required to ensure that the SEVs are strengthened and integrated into environmental decision-making?

Consultation Question 3:

Are the *EBR*'s restrictions on judicial review and restricted remedies appropriate? For example,

- Should the privative clause in section 118(1) be modified or repealed?
- Should section 37 be modified or repealed to incentivize government compliance?
- If a legal accountability framework is adopted, what legal remedies should be available for non-compliance with the *EBR*?

Consultation Question 4:

Should access to information be improved under the *EBR*? If so, how?

Consultation Question 5:

Should the public trust doctrine be included in the *EBR*? If so, how should the law address:

- Types of resources subject to the public trust doctrine
- Potential defences and defendants
- Threshold of harm needed to invoke the public trust doctrine
- Most effective forum for adjudicating the public trust doctrine
- Legal remedies

Consultation Question 6:

Are amendments or changes are required to the role of the Environmental Commissioner to help strengthen government accountability?

Consultation Question 7:

Is it necessary to improve access to justice under the *EBR*? If so, how should the law, policies, or rules address:

- Section 38 standing rules
- Public nuisance standing under section 103
- Intervenor funding
- Leave to appeal
- Other amendments or reforms to promote access to justice

Consultation Question 8:

Should the right to sue for harm to a public resource be modified? If so, how?

Consultation Question 9:

Should additional ministries, including the Ministry of Finance, be subject to the *EBR*?

Consultation Question 10:

Are specific criteria required for section 30 of the *EBR*? If so, how should they be defined?

Consultation Question 11:

Should section 32 of the EBR be amended? If so, how?

Consultation Question 12:

Do the purposes and governing principles of the *EBR* remain appropriate? Are there other principles or purposes that should be explicitly recognized in the *EBR*? If so, why?

Consultation Question 13:

How should the *EBR* be modified to meet new obligations regarding the rights of Indigenous Peoples? For example,

- How can Indigenous law and perspectives be recognized and applied in the context of the *EBR*?
- What are the barriers for Indigenous people participating in the *EBR* process and how should they be addressed?
- Are there additional methods of notice that would bring forward Indigenous rights and interests?
- What are the best ways to meet Indigenous consultation requirements?

Consultation Issue 14:

Should the *EBR* be amended to include a substantive RTHE? If so, how should the law address the following issues:

- Definition
- Adjudication forum
- Applicability and Enforceability
- Standing
- Evidential standard
- Defences
- Remedies

Consultation Question 15:

Should the *EBR* address environmental justice? If so, should the *EBR* impose a statutory duty on government ministries to ensure engagement with low-income and marginalized communities in environmental decision-making?

Consultation Question 16:

Should the *EBR* recognize the rights of nature? If so, how?

Appendix B: Glossary

The definition of terms frequently used in this paper are provided below:

Commissioner of the Environment

The Commissioner of the Environment (Environmental Commissioner) is the person responsible for ensuring compliance with the implementation and operation of the *Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993*.

Environmental Activity and Sector Registry

The Environmental Activity and Sector Registry (EASR) is an electronic registration system that allows businesses conducting certain activities to register online and comply with requirements set by regulations instead of obtaining an approval from the Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks.

Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993

The *Environmental Bill of Rights Ontario, 1993* (*EBR*) is an Ontario law which came into effect in February 1994. The *EBR* allows the public to participate in the Ontario government's environmental decision-making process.

Environmental Registry of Ontario

The *EBR* established the Environmental Registry of Ontario (Registry), a searchable Internet database, on which prescribed ministries are required to post notice when they propose to make new or amend existing: policies, acts, regulations or instruments.

Exceptions

The *EBR* allows for certain proposals to be exempt from the public notice and comment requirements. These exceptions apply if a proposal is predominately financial or administrative; if there is an emergency; if the proposal has been, or will be, considered under a substantially equivalent public participation process; if the instrument is intended to implement an undertaking that has been approved or exempted under the *Environmental Assessment Act*; or if the proposal would give effect to a budget or economic statement provided to the Ontario Legislature.

Instrument

An instrument includes, permits, approvals, licenses and orders issued by the Ontario government to an individual or an organization.

Leave to Appeal

The *EBR* allows an Ontario resident to seek leave to appeal (i.e., obtain permission) certain instruments, provided the person can satisfy the two-part test under section 41 of the *EBR*. The leave to appeal application must be filed within fifteen days with the appropriate appellate body after the instrument decision notice is posted on the Registry.

Notice

If a proposed policy, act, regulation or instrument is subject to public notice and comment under the *EBR*, notice to the public must be provided through the Environmental Registry.

Prescribed Ministries and Statutes

The government ministries and statutes which are "prescribed" under the *EBR* have been identified in regulations enacted under the *EBR*. For a proposal to be subject to the *EBR*, it must originate from a prescribed ministry or under a prescribed statute.

Statement of Environmental Values

The *EBR* requires a Statement of Environmental Values (SEV) from prescribed ministries setting out how the purposes of the *EBR* will be applied to environmentally significant decisions, and how consideration of the *EBR*'s purposes will be integrated with social, economic and scientific considerations.

Task Force on the Environmental Bill of Rights

The Task Force on the Environmental Bill of Rights (Task Force) was established on October 1991 by the Ruth Grier, the then Minister of the Environment, to draft an environmental bill of rights. The Task Force was composed of representatives from business, government and environmental groups and was directed by its terms of reference to reach consensus on its recommendations.

Endnotes

- 1 Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993, S.O. 1993, c.28 (EBR], preamble
- 2 The Hon. Bud Wildman, Presentation to the Standing Committee on General Government (Hansard, October 14, 1993).
- 3 IPCC, Climate Change 2022: Mitigation of Climate Change. Contribution of Working Group III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [P.R. Shukla, J. Skea, R. Slade, A. Al Khourdajie, R. van Diemen, D. McCollum, M. Pathak, S. Some, P. Vyas, R. Fradera, M. Belkacemi, A. Hasija, G. Lisboa, S. Luz and J. Malley, (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA. doi: 10.1017/9781009157926.001, online: IPCC_AR6_WGIII_FinalDraft_FullReport.pdf at SPM-2.
- 4 Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks, Climate Change Strategy, (Toronto: Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks, 24 November 2015), online: [https://docs.ontario.ca/ documents/4928/climate-change-strategy-en.pdf<u>at 3.</u>
- 5 Ontario Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks, Why we need to address climate change, (Toronto: Ministry of the Environment, Conservation and Parks, 23 December 2016), online: <u>https://www.ontario.ca/page/why-we-need-address-climate-change.</u>
- 6 *Ibid*.
- 7 Ibid.
- 8 *Ibid*.
- 9 *Ibid*.
- 10 *Ibid.*
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 *Ibid.*
- 13 Auditor General of Ontario, Value-for-Money Audit: Protecting and Recovering Species at Risk, (Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021) online: <u>https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/</u> <u>arreports/en21/ENV_ProtectingSpecies_en21.pdf</u> at 2.
- 14 Auditor General of Ontario, Value-for Money Audit; Hazardous Spills, (Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021), online: <u>https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en21/ENV_HazardousSpills_en21.pdf</u> at 1-2.
- 15 Auditor General of Ontario, Value-for-Money Audit, Non-Hazardous Waste Reduction and Diversion in the Industrial, Commercial and Institutional (IC&I) Sector, (Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021), online: https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en21/ENV_ICI_en21.pdf at 3.
- 16 David Coletto, "What do Canadians Think about Climate Change and Climate Action" (28 October 2021) online: <u>https://abacusdata.ca/tag/climate-change/.</u>; IPSOS, "Canadians Agree We Need To Do More On Climate, But Divided On Whether Economy Should Suffer As A Result" (26 August 2021), online: <u>https://www. ipsos.com/en-ca/news-polls/canadians-agree-we-need-to-do-more-on-climate.</u>; Samantha Beattie, "The environment is the top issue for Ontario voters, but are candidates taking it seriously enough?" (26 August 2021), online: https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/environment-gta-voters-1.6152765

- 17 Abacus Data, "Fires and Heat Waves Creating Urgency Around Climate Issues" (12 September 2021), online: https://abacusdata.ca/climate-urgency-canada/
- 18 United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act, S.C. 2021, c. 14, [UNDRIP Act].
- 19 Natalie J. Chalifour,"Environmental Justice and the Charter: Do environmental injustices infringe section 7 and 15 of the Charter?" (2015) 28 J. Env. L & Prac. 89 [Chalifour] at 5.
- 20 Dayna Nadine Scott, "What is Environmental Justice?" (2014) Osgoode Legal Research Paper Series.4, [Scott 2014], online: https://digitalcommons.osgoode.yorku.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1003&context=olsrps
- 21 David R. Boyd, *The Right to a Healthy Environment: Revitalizing Canada's Constitution*, (Vancouver: UBC Press, 2012) [Boyd 2012] at 61-66.
- 22 Bill S-5, *Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act*, 1st Sess, 44th Parl. 2021.
- 23 Ibid. For analysis and commentary on Bill S-5, see Joseph F. Castrilli and Fe De Leon, "Proposed Amendments Submitted to the Minister of Environment, Climate Change and Health on Bill S-5, An Act to Amend the Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, etc. (Toronto: Canadian Environmental Law Association, March 2022), online: https://cela.ca/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/CELA-Proposed-Amendments-to-Bill-S-5-CEPA_03Mar22.pdf
- 24 Paul Muldoon and Richard Lindgren, *The Environmental Bill of Rights: A Practical Guide* (Toronto: Emond Montgomery Publications Limited, 1995) [Muldoon and Lindgren] at 3.
- 25 *EBR,* note 1, s. 2(1).
- 26 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 51.
- 27 Auditor General of Ontario, **The Operation of the Environmental Bill of Rights,1993 (**Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2021) [AGO 2021], online: https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en21/ENV_*EBR*_en21.pdf at 2.
- 28 EBR, note 1, s.38.
- 29 *Ibid* s. 103.
- 30 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 129.
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 *Ibid* at 132.
- 33 Ibid at 133.
- 34 Ibid at 129.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Ibid at 89.
- 37 *EBR*, note 1, s.35(1).
- 38 *Ibid* s.36(4).
- 39 Ramani Nadarajah and Renee Griffin, "The failure of Defamation Law to Safeguard Against SLAPPs in Ontario" Review of European Community & International Environmental Law, (2010) 19: 1 RECIEL [Nadarajah & Griffin) at 71.
- 40 *Ibid*.

- 41 UNECE Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters, (Aarhus Convention), online: <u>cep43e.pdf (unece.org)</u>
- 42 Nadarajah and Griffin, note 39 at 71.
- 43 See J.A Kennedy, *Forward to the First Edition* in David Estrin & John Swaigen, *Environment on Trial: A Citizen's Guide to Environmental Law*, (Toronto: Canadian Environmental Law Research Foundation, 1974) [Estrin and Swaigen] at xvii.
- 44 Joseph L. Sax, *Defending the Environment: A Strategy for Citizen Action* (Alfred A Knopf: New York 197) [Sax] at xvii.
- 45 David Bryden, "Environmental Rights in Theory and Practice" 62 Minn. L. Rev 163 (1978) [Bryden] at 171.
- 46 *Ibid*.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 *Michigan Environmental Protection Act, 1970* [MEPA], online: https://connect.michbar.org/envlaw/reports/ deskbook/chapter14 (last accessed 11 July 2022.
- 49 Joseph F. Castrilli, "Environmental Rights Statutes in the United States and Canada: Comparing the Michigan and Ontario Experiences" (1998) 9 Vill.Envtl. L.J. 349 [Castrilli] at 361.
- 50 Bryden, note 25, at 210.
- 51 *Ibid*.
- 52 *Ibid* at 180.
- 53 Castrilli, note 49, at 371-372.
- 54 Ibid at 355.
- 55 George Hoberg "Environmental Policy: Alternative Styles" in Michael Atkinson, ed., *Governing Canada: Institutions and Public Policy* (Toronto: Harcourt Brace Javanovich, 1993) at 313-314.
- 56 Paul D. Emond, "Are We There Yet?": Reflections on the Success of the Environment Law Movement in Ontario." Osgoode Hall Law Journal 46.2 (2008) at 219-242, 227-229.
- 57 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 6.
- 58 David McRobert," The Ontario Regulation and Policy-Making Process in a Comparative Context: Exploring the Possibilities of Reform" (A report prepared for the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario,) October 1996 at 9.
- 59 Metcalf Foundation, *A New Era of Environmental Governance: Better Decisions Regarding Infrastructure and Resource Development Projects* by Mark Winfield, (Toronto: Metcalf Foundation, 2016) [Winfield 2016] at 9-10.
- 60 Castrilli, note 49, at 362-363.
- 61 Eva B. Ligeti, "New Rights and Remedies Under the Environmental Bill of Rights: Overview of the Environmental Bill of Rights" (Paper delivered at the Canadian Bar Association, 18 December 1994), *New Rights and Remedies Under the Environmental Bill of Rights* (Toronto: Canadian Bar Association, 1994) [Ligeti] at 16-17.
- 62 Estrin and Swaigen, note 43, at 311.
- 63 *Ibid* at 312.

- 64 Ontario, Ministry of Environment, Report of the Task Force on the Ontario Environmental Bill of Rights (Toronto: Ministry of Environment, July 1992) Ontario Council of University Libraries and Member Libraries) (Isbn 07778000551) [Task Force Report], online: <u>https://archive.org/details/reportoftaskforc00taskuoft/</u><u>mode/2up</u> at 190
- 65 *Ibid* at 171.
- 66 *Ibid* at v.
- 67 Joseph F. Castrilli and Richard D. Lindgren, "Leave to Appeal under Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights: Lafarge Canada Inc. v. Ontario (Environmental Review Tribunal)" in Litigating Canada's Environment: Leading Canadian Environmental Cases by the Lawyers Involved (Toronto: Thomson Reuters Canada Limited, 2017) [Castrilli and Lindgren] at 151.
- 68 Mark S. Winfield, "A Political and Legal Analysis of Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights" (1998) 47 UNBLJ 325 [Winfield,1998] at 345.
- 69 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, **The Environmental Bill of Rights, Your Environment, Your Rights** (Toronto: Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, January 2015), at 3.
- 70 Ibid at 9.
- 71 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, **Opening the Doors to Better Environmental Decision-Making** (Toronto: Legislative Assembly of Ontario, 1995), online: https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/reporttopics/ envreports/env95/Annual%20Report%201994%20-%201995.pdf at 11-25.
- 72 *Ibid* at 26-29.
- 73 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, **Ontario Regulation 482/95 and the Environmental Bill of Rights:** A Special Report to the Legislative Assembly of Ontario (Toronto: Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, 1996), [ECO 1996] online: https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/reporttopics/envreports/env96/Ontario%20 Regulation%20482%20and%20the%20Environmental%20Bill%20of%20Rights%20(Special%20Report).pdf at 11-14.
- 74 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, Keep the Door to Environmental Protection Open: A Special Report to the Legislative Assembly of Ontario, (Toronto: Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, 1996), online: https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/reporttopics/envreports/env96/Keep%20the%20Door%20to%20 Environmental%20Protection%20Open%20(Special%20Report).pdf at 5-7.
- 75 *Ibid* at 6-7.
- 76 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, Good Choices, Bad Choices: 2017 Annual Environmental Protection Report, (Toronto: Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, 2017) [ECO 2017), online: https://www.auditor. on.ca/en/content/reporttopics/envreports/env17/Good-Choices-Bad-Choices.pdf at 73.
- 77 Ibid at 89.
- 78 Auditor General of Ontario, Environmental Approvals, 2016 Annual Report, (Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2016). online: <u>https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en18/</u> v2_105en18.pdf at 326
- 79 Ibid at 325-326.

- 80 *Ibid* at 326. A complete list of all the activities that are currently available for self-registration can be found at https://www.ontario.ca/page/environmental-activity-and-sector-registry#section-1. They include certain activities requiring assessment for air emissions; automotive refinishing facilities, commercial printing facilities, non-hazardous waste transportation; small modular solar facilities, end-of-life vehicles and specific water-taking activities.
- 81 Greenpeace v. Minister of the Environment (Ontario) 2019 ONSC 5629. [Greenpeace #1]
- 82 Cap and Trade Cancellation Act, 2018, S.O. 2018, c. 13.
- 83 Ibid at para 109.
- 84 *Ibid* at para 42.
- 85 *Ibid* at para 63.
- 86 *Greenpeace Canada (2471256 Canada Inc.) v. Ontario (Minister of the Environment, Conservation and Parks)* 2021 ONSC 4521 [*Greenpeace* #2] at para 99.
- 87 COVID-19 Economic Recovery Act, 2020 SO 2020, c.18.
- 88 *Greenpeace* # 2, note 86, at para 68.
- 89 *Ibid* at para 99.
- 90 *Ibid* at para 100.
- 91 Environmental Registry of Ontario, online: <u>Proposed Planning Act Changes (the proposed More Homes for</u> <u>Everyone Act, 2022) | Environmental Registry of Ontario</u>
- 92 Task Force Report, note 64, at 15.
- 93 Ibid at 19.
- 94 Ibid.
- 95 Ibid at 17.
- 96 Castrilli, note 49, at 435.
- 97 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 39.
- 98 Task Force Report, note 64, at 23-24.
- 99 *Ibid* at 23.
- 100 *Ibid.*
- 101 *Ibid* at 24.
- 102 *Ibid*.
- 103 *Ibid* at 65.
- 104 *Lafarge Canada Inc. v. Ontario (Environmental Review Tribunal)* OJ No 2460 (Div. Ct.) [*Lafarge*], leave to appeal refused (November 26, 2008), Doc. M36552 (Ont. C.A.)
- 105 *Ibid* at paras 51 and 52.
- 106 *Ibid* at para 54.
- 107 Ibid.

- 108 *Ibid* at para 57.
- 109 ECO 2017, note 76, at 19.
- 110 *Ibid*.
- 111 AGO 2021, note 27, at 7-8.
- 112 https://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/internet/English/parl_cesd_202111_06_e_43914.html
- 113 EBR, note 1, s. 118(1.)
- 114 EBR, note 1, s. 118 (2).
- 115 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 171.
- 116 Task Force Report, note 64, at 68.
- 117 Ibid.
- 118 *Greenpeace #2,* note 86, at para 95.
- 119 Lynda M. Collins, Jerry V. DeMarco and Alan Levy, "Accessing Environmental Information in Ontario: A Legislative Comment on Ontario's Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act," (2004)13 J.Env.L.& Prac. 267 [Collins 2004] at 267.
- 120 Task Force Report, note 64, at 10.
- 121 *Ibid* at iv.
- 122 Environmental Registry of Ontario, online: https://ero.ontario.ca/
- 123 Auditor General of Ontario, *Operation of the Environmental Bill of Rights*, (Toronto: Office of the Auditor General of Ontario, 2020), [AGO 2020] online: https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en20/ENV_ch1*EBR*_en20.pdf at 19.
- 124 Ibid at 26-27.
- 125 *Ibid* at 33.
- 126 Collins 2004, note 119, at 286.
- 127 Ibid.
- 128 Ibid at 287.
- 129 Ibid.
- 130 Sax, note 44, at 163-164
- 131 Constance D. Hunt," The Public Trust Doctrine in Canada" in John Swaigen, *Environmental Bill of Rights in Canada* (Toronto: Butterworths & Co (Canada) Ltd., 1981) (Hunt]; David Estrin and John Swaigen, *Environment on Trial*, 3d ed (Toronto: Emond Montgomery Publications Limited, 1993) at 808; Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 122-123.
- 132 *Ibid* at 187.
- 133 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 122-123.
- 134 Ibid.
- 135 Hunt, note 131, at 187.

- 136 Task Force Report, note 64, at 65-66.
- 137 Ibid at 68.
- 138 Ibid at 59 and 66.
- 139 Green Energy and Green Economy Act, 2009, Schedule F, s.1. The Act was repealed on January 1, 2019.
- 140 See Charles J. Birchall, "What is the Role of Ontario's New Commissioner of the Environment?": online: <u>https://www.willmsshier.com/docs/default-source/articles/ontario_s-new-commissioner-of-the-environment-cb-28-april-2020.pdf?sfvrsn=74c157d5 [Birchall]</u>; Richard Lindgren, Ontario axes independent environmental watchdog, The Lawyers Daily, (Toronto: Ontario, January 8, 2019) [Lindgren 2019], online: <u>https://www.</u> thelawyersdaily.ca/articles/9499/ontario-axes-independent-environmental-watchdog.
- 141 *EBR*, note 1, s. 50(1).
- 142 Birchall, note 140.
- 143 *EBR*, note 1, s. 51(2).
- 144 Ibid s. 2.1 (a) and s.2.1(b).
- 145 AGO 2021, note 27, at 63.
- 146 Ibid.
- 147 Lindgren 2019, note 140.
- 148 Ibid.
- 149 Ibid.
- 150 *Ibid*.
- 151 Richard D. Lindgren, Why the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario Matters: Legal Analysis of Bill 57. Online: https://cela.ca/why-the-environmental-commissioner-of-ontario-matters-legal-analysis-of-schedule-15-of-bill-57/ at 3-4.
- 152 *Ibid* at 10-11.
- 153 *Ibid* at 3.
- 154 Task Force Report, note 64, at 90.
- 155 Ibid at 88.
- 156 Ibid at 91.
- 157 Ligeti, note 61, at 15-16.
- 158 Task Force Report, note 64, at 83-84.
- 159 *Ibid* at 94.
- 160 *Ibid* at 93 and 95.
- 161 *Lafarge,* note 104, at para 45-47.
- 162 Auditor General of Ontario, Operation of the Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993, (Toronto: Auditor General of Ontario, 2019); online: <u>https://www.auditor.on.ca/en/content/annualreports/arreports/en19/v2_200en19.</u> <u>pdf</u> at 43.
- 163 Ontario Land Tribunal's Rules of Practice and Procedure, (June 1, 2021), Rule 15.4.

- 164 Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, *Looking Forward, The Environmental Bill of Rights*, (Toronto, Environmental Commissioner of Ontario, 2005) [ECO 2005] at 6.
- 165 Task Force Report, note 64, at 97-98.
- 166 Richard Lindgren, "Using the Courts under the Environmental Bill of Rights: A Public Interest Plaintiff's Perspective" (Paper delivered at the Canadian Bar Association Conference New Rights and Remedies Under the Environmental Bill of Rights, 18 December 1994), [Lindgren 1994] at 14.
- 167 *EBR*, note 1, s. 85(3).
- 168 Castrilli, note 49, at 431.
- 169 *Ibid*.
- 170 Lindgren 1994, note 166, at 18.
- 171 ECO 2005, note 164, at 7.
- 172 *EBR*, note 1, s.15(2), s.16(2), s. 30, s. 32, and s.33.
- 173 See Bill 229, *Protect and Support and Recover from COVID-19 Act* which included changes to the *Conservation Authorities Act* and the *Crown Forest Sustainability Act*; Bill 197, *COVID-19 Economic Recovery Act, 2020* which included changes to the *Environmental Assessment Act* and the *Planning Act*; Bill 26, *Savings and Restructuring Act, 1995* which included changes to the *Mining Act*, the *Public Lands Act, the Lakes and Rivers Improvement Act* and the *Conservation Authorities Act*.
- 174 See, for example, Adam M. Dodek, *Omnibus Bills: Constitutional Constraints and Legislative Liberations*, (December 24, 2017) Ottawa Law Review, Volume 48, No.1, 2017, online: <u>Omnibus Bills: Constitutional</u> <u>Constraints and Legislative Liberations by Adam M. Dodek :: SSRN</u>
- 175 Ontario Regulation 482/95 gave all ministries a ten-month exemption from the *EBR*'s public notice and comment provisions for any environmentally significant proposals that were connected to the government's cost-cutting initiatives.
- 176 AGO 2020, note 123, at 3.
- 177 Ibid at 15-16.
- 178 ECO 1996, note 73.
- 179 *Ibid* at 5.
- 180 *Ibid* at 7.
- 181 Muldoon and Lindgren, note 24, at 82.
- 182 *Greenpeace #1, note* **81,** at para 85.
- 183 David McRobert, "The Nuts and Bolts of Ontario's Environmental Bill of Rights: An Update" (Paper delivered at the Environmental Law, Regulation and Management: New Rules, New Strategies f or Compliance Conference, May 25-26,1998) at 26.
- 184 Ibid.
- See Richard D. Lindgren, "Preliminary Analysis of Schedule 6 of Bill 197: Proposed Amendments to the Environmental Assessment Act" (Toronto: Canadian Environmental Law Association, 2020); Richard D.
 Lindgren & Burgundy Dunn, "Environmental Assessment in Ontario: Rhetoric v. Reality" (2010) J.E.L.P. 279; Alan Levy" A Review of Environmental Assessment in Ontario" (2001) J.E.L.P. 173.

186 EC0 2005, note 164, at 5.

- 187 *Ibid*.
- 188 *Ibid*.
- 189 Ibid at 6.
- 190 See Jerry V. DeMarco, The Supreme Court of Canada's Recognition of Fundamental Environmental Values: What Could be next in Canadian Environmental Law?" 2007 17:3 J Envtl L & Prac, 159.
- 191 Taku River Tlingit First Nation v. British Columbia (Project Assessment Director) 2004 SCC 74; Haida Nation v. British Columbia (Minister of Forests) 2004 SCC 73; Mikisew Cree First Nation v. Canada (Minister of Canadian Heritage) 2005 SCC 69.
- 192 Truth and Reconciliation of Commission of Canada; Calls to Action, (Winnipeg: Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada, 2012) [Truth and Reconciliation Commission], online: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/ gov/british-columbians-our-governments/indigenous-people/aboriginal-peoples-documents/calls_to_action_ english2.pdf
- 193 UNDRIP Act, note 18.
- 194 See Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act, [SBC 2019] Chapter 44.
- 195 Truth and Reconciliation Commissions, note 192, ss.43 and 44.
- 196 See, for example, *Clyde River (Hamlet) v Petroleum Geo-Services,* 2017 SCC 40 at para 49, where the Supreme Court of Canada found the lack of access to adequate internet services and the inability to download a key document as among the reasons why a consultation did not fulfill constitutional obligations. See also John Burrows (Kegedonce), *Drawing Out Law, A Spirit's Guide* (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 2010).
- 197 Mark Buell, "Indigenous communities must have internet access on their terms, *Toronto Star* (18 January 2021), online: Indigenous communities must have internet access on their terms | The Star.
- 198 Winfield, note 68, at 337.
- 199 See, for example, Boyd 2012, note 22; Lynda Collins, "An Ecologically Literate Reading of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedom" (2009) W.R.L.S.I.; Lynda Collins, *The Ecological Constitution; Reframing Environmental Law*, (Oxfordshire: Routledge, 2021).
- 200 Boyd 2012, note 21, at 23-24.
- 201 Ibid at 3.
- 202 *Ibid* at 100.
- 203 *Ibid* at 66.
- 204 *Ibid* at 61-66.
- 205 *Ibid* at 66.
- 206 *Ibid* at 61.
- 207 Bill S-5, Strengthening Environmental Protection for a Healthier Canada Act, note 23, section 2(a.2) and 2(c).
- 208 <u>United Nations, UN News,"UN General Assembly declares access to clean and healthy environment a</u> <u>universal human right</u>"(28 July 2022) [UN News] online: https://news.un.org/en/story/2022/07/1123482

- 209 Ibid.
- 210 United Nations General Assembly Resolution (A/76/L.75), online: <u>https://digitallibrary.un.org/</u> record/3982508?ln=en
- 211 UN News, note 208.
- 212 Report of the Special Rapporteur, UNHRC, 43rd Sess, AHRC/43/53(2019) at 4, one: <u>https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G19/355/14/PDF/G1935514.pdf?OpenElement</u>
- 213 Task Force Report, note 64, at 17.
- 214 Boyd 2012, note 21, at 120-121.
- 215 Ibid at 55.
- 216 Scott 2014, note 20.
- 217 Chalifour, note 19, at 5.
- 218 UN Human Rights Council, *Report of the Special Rapporteur on the implications for human rights of the environmentally sound management and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes*, 27 November 2022,[UNHRC Report], online : <u>https://documents-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/G20/328/37/PDF/</u><u>G2032837.pdf?OpenElement</u>
- 219 Ibid at 8.
- 220 Ibid.
- 221 Ibid.
- 222 Ibid at 8-9.
- 223 Constanze A. MacKenzie, Ada Lockridge & Margaret Keith, "Declining Sex Ratio in a First Nation Community" (2005) 114 Envtl. Health Perspectives 1295, online: <u>Declining Sex Ratio in a First Nation Community (nih.</u>
 <u>gov</u>)
- 224 Dayna Nadine Scott, "Confronting Chronic Pollution: A Socio-Legal Analysis of Risk and Precaution" Osgoode Hall Law Journal 46:2 (2008), online: <u>Confronting Chronic Pollution: A Socio-Legal Analysis of Risk and</u> <u>Precaution (yorku.ca) at 304</u>
- 225 ECO 2017, note 76, at 124.
- 226 Ibid at 125.
- 227 Ibid at 142.
- 228 *Ibid* at 99.
- 229 Ibid at 126
- 230 Ibid at 146.
- 231 Ontario Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, Cumulative Effects Assessment (CEA) in Air Approvals, (Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, 2018) [Air Approval Report], online: https:// prod-environmental-registry.s3.amazonaws.com/2018-04/Cumulative%20Effects%20Assessment%20in%20 Air%20Approvals%2020180426_0.pdf

- 232 Letter from Dr. Dayna Scott, Osgoode Hall Law School's Environmental Justice and Sustainability Clinic to Hon. Chris Ballard, Minister of Environment and Climate Change, dated February 7, 2017[Scott 2017], online: https://www.osgoode.yorku.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/*EBR*-Registry-013-1680-EJS-Clinic-Submission Feb7_2018.pdf
- 233 Air Approval Report, note 231, at 4.
- 234 Scott 2017, note 232.
- 235 Ontario Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, Cumulative Effects Assessment in Air Approvals, ERO 103-1680, (April 26, 2018), online: https://ero.ontario.ca/notice/013-1680#decision-details
- Bill C-219, An Act to enact the Canadian Bill of Rights and to make related amendments to other Act, 1st
 Sess, 44th Parl, 2021, [Bill C-219] (First reading 16 December 2021) [Bill C-219], online: Private Member's Bill
 C-219 (44-1) First Reading Canadian Environmental Bill of Rights Parliament of Canada
- 237 Bill C-230, *An Act respecting the development of a national strategy to assess, prevent, and address environmental racism and to advance environmental justice*, 2nd Sess, 43rd Parl, 2020-2021 as reported by the Standing Committee on Environment and Sustainable Development to the House of Commons on June 22, 2021), [Bill C-230], online: <u>Private Member's Bill C-230 (43-2) - Second Reading - National Strategy to</u> <u>Redress Environmental Racism Act - Parliament of Canada</u>
- 238 Bill C-219, note 236.
- 239 Bill C-230, note 237, s.5(e).
- 240 Anant Saini, Canada's First Bill on Environmental Racism Moves Through Parliament: Why Is it Important? June 15, 2021, online: Why It Matters: Canada's First Environmental Racism Bill Moves Through Parliament (naturecanada.ca)
- 241 Bill C-230, note 237, s.3(1).
- 242 Ibid, s.3(a)(i).
- 243 *Ibid*, s.3(b).
- 244 Ibid, s.3(2).
- 245 David R. Boyd, *The Rights of Nature: A Legal Revolution That Could Save The World*, (Toronto: ECW Press, 2017) [Boyd 2017] at xxxiv-xxxv.
- 246 Ibid at xxix.
- 247 *Ibid* at xxx.
- 248 Christopher D. Stone, "Should Trees Have Standing?-Towards Legal Rights for Natural Objects" Southern California Law Review 45 (1972) [Stone] 450 at 456.
- 249 Boyd 2017, note 245, at 102-105.
- 250 Stone, note 248, at 464-465.
- 251 Amanda McAleer, Canadian Environmental Law Association Blog: *Quebec's Magpie River Is Now A Legal Person*, online: Canadian Environmental Law Association (CELA) Blog: Quebec's Magpie River Is Now A Legal Person (accessed April 23, 2022). See also ON Nature, Ontario's waterways legal personhood could revolutionize their protection, (Spring 2022), online: ON Nature magazine- Spring 2022- Page 1 (publitas. com) at 24-27.
- 252 Ibid.





LAW COMMISSION OF ONTARIO Commission du droit de l'ontario 2032 Ignat Kaneff Building Osgoode Hall Law School, York University 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M3J 1P3